
NOTICE OF ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING

7TH AGM  — 19 JUNE 2023

Belief comes first



Integrated Report 2022
Our integrated report covers all the 
material information about the financial, 
economic, social and environmental 
performance of FMBcapital Holdings 
Plc and all its operating companies in 
Botswana, Malawi, Mozambique, Zambia 
and Zimbabwe that are supported by 
group services in Mauritius for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2022. 

Annual Financial 
Statements 2022
Our consolidated annual financial 
statements for the year ended 
31 December 2022 include the audited 
consolidated financial statements 
of FMBcapital Holdings Plc and its 
subsidiaries (together the Group)  
as well as the director’s report.

Reporting Suite

Contents

Message from  
the Chairman  
of the Board

1
Annual Meeting 
Notice

2
Minutes of 6th 
Annual Meeting

5
Draft Amended 
Constitution

8

Audited Summary 
Consolidated and 
Separate Financial 
Statements

33
Proxy Form 

39
Key Corporate 
Information

41

The integrated report and previous annual reports 
are available for download from our website at  
www.fmbcapitalgroup.com

Mauritius Companies Act, 
2001 and Malawi Stock 
Exchange Listing Rules
FMBcapital Holdings Plc is registered 
with a Global Business Licence under the 
Mauritius Companies Act, 2001, and is 
duly regulated by the Mauritius Financial 
Services Commission. It is also listed on 
the Malawi Stock Exchange (MSE) and, as 
such, is subject to the MSE Listing Rules.



Message from the Chairman of 
the Board to Shareholders

Terence Davidson Chairman

Dear Shareholder
On behalf of the board of directors (the board), you are hereby 
extended an invitation to attend the 7th Annual Meeting of 
FMBcapital Holdings Plc (the Company) to be held at the First 
Capital Bank Training Centre, First House, Blantyre, Malawi on 
Monday, 19 June 2023 at 16h00 (CAT).

The Annual Meeting provides the board with the opportunity 
to present the Company’s performance for the year ended 
31 December 2022 to the Company’s shareholders. The board 
recognises the importance of its shareholders’ presence at the 
Annual Meeting as an opportunity to participate in discussions 
relating to items included in the notice of the meeting.

The Annual Meeting Pack, consisting of this Notice which includes 
the resolutions, proxy form and summary financial information, 
will be sent to all shareholders. The Integrated  Report and Annual 
Financial Statements will be made available on the Company 
website, www.fmbcapitalgroup.com, from 1 June 2023 onwards.

Shareholders who wish to have a hard copy of the Annual 
Meeting Pack sent to them, together with the Integrated 
Report and Annual Financial Statements, may request these by 
contacting the Company’s transfer secretary’s office by email 
at: ekhulamba@natbankmw.com or in person at 7 Henderson 
Street, Blantyre, or by telephone (T) +265 (0) 1 820 622,  
(C) +265 (0) 888 168 635.

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may 
appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote on their behalf. The 
proxy need not be a member of the Company. Proxy forms 
should be sent to the Company’s transfer secretary’s office,  
to arrive by Friday, 16 June 2023 or no later than 48 (forty-eight) 
hours before the time scheduled for the meeting, else the 
instrument of proxy will be treated as invalid.

We look forward to welcoming you at the Annual Meeting.

Terence Davidson
Chairman

26 May 2023

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023 1



Procedure for holding the meeting
A.  The Annual Meeting Pack consisting of the Notice, 

Agenda, Minutes, a Proxy Form, Voting Slip and  
an abridged Annual Report will be sent to all  
shareholders using their postal addresses and  
will also be made available on the company  
website (https://fmbcapitalgroup.com) from  
1 June 2023 onwards.

B.  Shareholders who wish to have copies of the Annual 
Meeting Pack sent to them electronically must do  
so by contacting the Transfer Secretary as follows:

By email:  ekhulamba@natbankmw.com
By phone:  T: +265 (0) 1 820 622 (extension: 1342) 

C: +265 (0) 888 168 635
In person:  7 Henderson Street, P.O. Box 945, Blantyre.

C.  A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is 
entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote in 
his or her stead. The proxy need not be a member of the 
Company. Proxy forms should be sent to the Company’s 
Transfer Secretary’s office (National Bank of Malawi plc, 
7 Henderson Street, P.O. Box 945, Blantyre), to reach 
there not later than forty-eight (48) hours before the 
time scheduled for the meeting, in default of which, 
the instrument of Proxy shall be treated as invalid.

Business to be transacted at the meeting
1. Minutes of the Last Annual Meeting

To note and approve the minutes of the 6th Annual 
Meeting of the Company that was held on 20 June 2022.

2. Audited Financial Statements
To receive and adopt the audited annual financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 
together with the reports of the auditors and directors 
thereon.

3. Dividend
To declare a nil final dividend for the year ended 
31 December 2022 upon the Directors’ recommendation. 

This follows interim dividends declared by the Directors 
in respect of profits for the year ended 31 December 
2022, being:

3.1 A first interim dividend amounting to US$ 3 687 375, 
representing 0.15 US cents per ordinary share, paid 
in September 2022. 

3.2 A second interim dividend amounting to 
US$ 8 312 625, representing 0.3381 US cents per 
ordinary share. The second interim dividend will 
be paid on or about 16 June 2023 to shareholders 
whose names appear on the register of members 
as at close of business on Friday, 9 June 2023. The 
second interim dividend will be paid to Malawi 
resident shareholders in Malawi Kwacha calculated 
at the closing USD mid-market rate on Friday, 
9 June 2023 as published by the Reserve Bank of 
Malawi. The register of members will be closed  

Annual Meeting Notice
Notice is hereby given to all shareholders, directors, secretary, and company auditor  
that the 7th Annual Meeting of the Company will be held at the First Capital Bank  
Training Centre, Ground Floor, First House, Blantyre, Malawi on 19 June 2023 at 16h00 
Central African Time. 

from 9 June 2023 to 12 June 2023. During this time, 
no share transfers will be registered. 

3.3 The total interim dividends declared out of profits 
for the year ended 31 December 2022 amount 
to US$12 000 000. This represents an increase in 
dividend payout of 271% (2021: US$ 4 424 850). 

4. Directors
4.1 To re-appoint Terence Davidson, who retires by age 

to hold office until the next Annual General Meeting.

4.2 To re-elect Mr. Kamal Taposeea, who retires by 
rotation but being eligible, offers himself up for 
re-election.

4.3 To re-elect Mr. Gavin Chapman, who retires by 
rotation but being eligible, offers himself up for 
re-election.

4.4 To re-elect Mrs. Priscilla Balgobin-Bhoyrul, who 
retires by rotation but being eligible, offers herself 
up for re-election.

4.5 To authorise the non-executive directors to 
determine the remuneration of the executive 
directors for the year ending 31 December 2023.

4.6 To re-affirm directors’ fees and allowances approved 
for the year ending 31 December 2022, to be paid 
quarterly, and to fix such remuneration for the year 
ending 31 December 2023. The fees are as follows:

4.6.1 Annual fees for the Chairman, of US$ 20 000 per 
annum,

4.6.2 Annual fees for the Chairman, of US$ 40 000 per 
annum, as a retainer for his time spent on Group 
Board responsibilities, and

4.6.3 Annual fees for other non-executive directors of 
US$ 18 000.

5. Auditors
5.1 To approve the payment of audit fees of 

US$ 105 862.50 inclusive of tax to Deloitte in 
respect of the audit of the annual financial 
statements of the Company for the year ended 
31 December 2022.

5.2 To approve the appointment of Ernst and Young 
as auditors for the year ending 31 December 2023. 
This appointment follows a process wherein the 
Company’s subsidiaries in Malawi and Mozambique 
appointed Ernst and Young as external auditors 
during the year ended 31 December 2022 for the 
2023 and 2022 financial years onwards, respectively. 
Consequently, the minimum subsidiary control 
required by the Company’s outgoing auditors, 
Deloitte, was not reached for the year ending 
31 December 2023. The Company conducted a 
proposal process, the outcome of which was the 
selection of Ernst and Young as Company and 
Group auditors with effect from the year ending 
31 December 2023. 

2



Special business
6. Alteration of Company Constitution

It is noted that the Company has adopted a Constitution 
on 22 March 2017 (the “Constitution”).

It is now proposed to amend the Constitution as follows:

6.1 the terms “FMB Capital Holdings Plc” and “FMB Capital 
Holdings Ltd” be replaced by “FMBcapital Holdings 
Plc” throughout the Constitution.

 We, the shareholders of the Company hereby pass 
the following special resolutions: 

 THAT:

 (a)  The alteration of the Constitution to include the 
aforementioned amendment in accordance with 
section 44(2) of the Companies Act 2001, be and 
is hereby approved; and

 (b)  Any one of the directors of the Company or the 
Secretary of the Company, be and is hereby 
authorised, for and on behalf of the Company, to 
undertake and complete all the necessary filing 
procedures with the local authorities accordingly 
to give effect to the above resolutions.

It is now proposed to amend the Constitution as follows:

6.2 a new definition be inserted in clause 1.1 of the 
Constitution as follows: “Resident Directors has the 
meaning given to it under clause 23.1.2.”

 We, the shareholders of the Company hereby pass 
the following special resolutions:

 THAT:

 (a)  The alteration of the Constitution to include the 
aforementioned amendment in accordance with 
section 44(2) of the Companies Act 2001, be and 
is hereby approved; and

 (b)  Any one of the directors of the Company or the 
Secretary of the Company, be and is hereby 
authorised, for and on behalf of the Company, to 
undertake and complete all the necessary filing 
procedures with the local authorities accordingly 
to give effect to the above resolutions.

It is now proposed to amend the Constitution as follows:

6.3 the existing clause 3 of the Constitution be deleted 
and replaced by the following: “The registered office 
of the Company will be situated at C/o JTC Fiduciary 
Services (Mauritius) Limited, Unit 5ABC, Standard 
Chartered Tower, 19 Cybercity, Ebène, Mauritius or in 
such other place as the Board may from time to time 
determine.”

 We, the shareholders of the Company hereby pass 
the following special resolutions:

 THAT:

 (a)  The alteration of the Constitution to include the 
aforementioned amendment in accordance with 
section 44(2) of the Companies Act 2001, be and 
is hereby approved; and

 (b)  Any one of the directors of the Company or the 
Secretary of the Company, be and is hereby 
authorised, for and on behalf of the Company, to 
undertake and complete all the necessary filing 
procedures with the local authorities accordingly 
to give effect to the above resolutions.

It is now proposed to amend the Constitution as follows:

6.4 a new paragraph be inserted after clause 18.2.3 of 
the Constitution to read as follows: “Where the Board 
declares a dividend, it shall ensure that the dividend 
is paid not later than 6 weeks after the last date to 
register.”

 We, the shareholders of the Company hereby pass 
the following special resolutions:

 THAT:

 (a)  The alteration of the Constitution to include the 
aforementioned amendment in accordance with 
section 44(2) of the Companies Act 2001, be and 
is hereby approved; and

 (b)  Any one of the directors of the Company or the 
Secretary of the Company, be and is hereby 
authorised, for and on behalf of the Company, to 
undertake and complete all the necessary filing 
procedures with the local authorities accordingly 
to give effect to the above resolutions.

It is now proposed to amend the Constitution as follows:

6.5 a new paragraph be inserted after clause 22.5.4 
of the Constitution, as follows: “The notice shall be 
accompanied by a detailed agenda together with any 
other document relevant to the meeting.”

 We, the shareholders of the Company hereby pass 
the following special resolutions:

 THAT:

 (a)  The alteration of the Constitution to include the 
aforementioned amendment in accordance with 
section 44(2) of the Companies Act 2001, be and 
is hereby approved; and

 (b)  Any one of the directors of the Company or the 
Secretary of the Company, be and is hereby 
authorised, for and on behalf of the Company, to 
undertake and complete all the necessary filing 
procedures with the local authorities accordingly 
to give effect to the above resolutions.

It is now proposed to amend the Constitution as follows:

6.6 the existing clause 23.1.1 of the Constitution be 
deleted and replaced by the following: “The Board 
shall consist of not less than six (6) and not more than 
twelve (12) Directors of which two (2) shall be resident 
in Mauritius.”

 We, the shareholders of the Company hereby pass 
the following special resolutions:

 THAT:

 (a)  The alteration of the Constitution to include the 
aforementioned amendment in accordance with 
section 44(2) of the Companies Act 2001, be and 
is hereby approved; and

 (b)  Any one of the directors of the Company or the 
Secretary of the Company, be and is hereby 
authorised, for and on behalf of the Company, to 
undertake and complete all the necessary filing 
procedures with the local authorities accordingly 
to give effect to the above resolutions.

3NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



It is now proposed to amend the Constitution as follows:

6.7 the existing clause 23.1.2 of the Constitution be 
deleted and replaced by the following: “Save for the 
two (2) Directors resident in Mauritius (the “Resident 
Directors”), each holder of twelve and a half percent 
(12.5%) of the share capital of the Company can 
appoint one (1) Director by giving written notice to the 
Company to that effect. The appointment shall take 
effect on the date on which the notice is received by 
the Company or, if a later date is given in the notice, 
on that date, subject, at all times, to the consent form 
being signed by the proposed Director. The two (2) 
Resident Directors shall be appointed by Ordinary 
Resolution.”

 We, the shareholders of the Company hereby pass 
the following special resolutions:

 THAT:

 (a)  The alteration of the Constitution to include the 
aforementioned amendment in accordance with 
section 44(2) of the Companies Act 2001, be and 
is hereby approved; and

 (b)  Any one of the directors of the Company or the 
Secretary of the Company, be and is hereby 
authorised, for and on behalf of the Company, to 
undertake and complete all the necessary filing 
procedures with the local authorities accordingly 
to give effect to the above resolutions.

It is now proposed to amend the Constitution as follows:

6.8 a new paragraph (n) be added in clause 24.3.1 of the 
Constitution as follows: “…at all times act in a manner 
which is not oppressive, unfairly discriminatory, or 
unfairly prejudicial to the Shareholders.”

 We, the shareholders of the Company hereby pass 
the following special resolutions:

 THAT:

 (a)  The alteration of the Constitution to include the 
aforementioned amendment in accordance with 
section 44(2) of the Companies Act 2001, be and 
is hereby approved; and

 (b)  Any one of the directors of the Company or the 
Secretary of the Company, be and is hereby 
authorised, for and on behalf of the Company, to 
undertake and complete all the necessary filing 
procedures with the local authorities accordingly 
to give effect to the above resolutions.

It is now proposed to amend the Constitution as follows:

6.9 a new paragraph be inserted in clause 33 of the 
Constitution as follows: “The Directors shall, at all 
times and even where the Company is removed from 
the register, ensure that the records referred to above 
are kept for a period of at least seven (7) years from 
the date of the completion of the transaction, act or 
operation to which it relates.”

  We, the shareholders of the Company hereby pass 
the following special resolutions:

 THAT:

 (a)  The alteration of the Constitution to include the 
aforementioned amendment in accordance with 
section 44(2) of the Companies Act 2001, be and 
is hereby approved; and

 (b)  Any one of the directors of the Company or the 
Secretary of the Company, be and is hereby 
authorised, for and on behalf of the Company, to 
undertake and complete all the necessary filing 
procedures with the local authorities accordingly 
to give effect to the above resolutions.

7. Issue of further shares
Rule 5.85, read together with Rule 5.86, of the Listing 
Requirements of the Malawi Stock Exchange (MSE), 
permits the issue in aggregate of new shares for cash 
over a thirty-six (36) month period up to a maximum of 
15% of the total issued shares at the beginning of such 
period. 

7.1 To authorise the directors to issue, for cash and in 
accordance with Rules 5.84 to 5.92 of the Listings 
Requirements of the MSE, new ordinary shares of the 
Company up to a maximum of 368,737,500 shares, 
equivalent to 15% of the total issued ordinary shares 
at the beginning of the 2021 financial year, was 
approved. This authority was approved as valid until 
the date of the next annual meeting of the Company 
provided that the authority will not extend beyond 
15 months from the date of the resolution.

8. Other Business
To transact such other business as may be transacted 
at an Annual Meeting of members of which prior notice 
should have been given to the Company Secretary not 
less than 14 days before the date of the Annual General 
Meeting. 

JTC Fiduciary Services (Mauritius) Limited
Corporate Secretary

Dated: 26 May 2023

4



Directors in attendance
Mr. Terence Michael Davidson       Chairman
Mr. Hitesh Natwarlal Anadkat         Director
Mr. Mahendra Gursahani Director
Ms. Susanne Alfs                           Director
Mr. Gavin John Chapman                    Director
Mr. John Michael O’Neill                    Director
Mr. Johannes Christoffel Els Director
Mr. Kamal Taposeea Director
Ms. Priscilla Balgobin-Bhoyrul Director

Shareholders present
B.T. Maele
Vasudev Popatlal
Leonard B.C. Kasuma
Shaun Anadkat
Hitesh Anadkat
Khumbo Chilimika
Hlazo Ngwenya
Dr. C.K. Makadia
Lovemore Chikufenji Tinto
Mr. D. Mwamira
Mr. A. Kamphoni
Ms. A. Jazza
Mr. T. Kadantot
Mary Kanchiputu

Shareholders present through proxies
Proxy name Shareholder name
Mark Mikwamba CHAM Pension
Mark Mikwamba First Merchant Bank Pension Fund
Mark Mikwamba Magetsi Pension Fund
Mark Mikwamba Aviation Pension Fund
Mark Mikwamba Madzi Pension Fund OMl
Mark Mikwamba OMIG MUST Endowment Fund
Mark Mikwamba Public Service Pension Fund
Mark Mikwamba  Std Bank Mw ITF Old Mutual Unit Trust 

Bal. Fund
Mark Mikwamba  Old Mutual Life Assurance Company 

(Malawi) Ltd
Mark Mikwamba  TNM Pension Fund
Mark Mikwamba  OMIG MUST Endowment Fund
Rupert Nkhono Toyota Malawi Pension Fund
Rupert Nkhono Sucoma Group Pension Fund
Rupert Nkhono Press Corporation Group Pension Scheme
Rupert Nkhono NICO Life Pension Fund
Rupert Nkhono General Insurance Company Ltd
Rupert Nkhono Limbe Leaf Malawi Pension Fund
Rupert Nkhono National Investment Trust Limited
Rupert Nkhono Standard Bank Pension Fund
Rupert Nkhono Reserve Bank of Malawi Pension Fund
Rupert Nkhono Public Service Pension Fund
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Louis Sibande
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Chiza Jere
Waaza Phiri  CAM Nominees A/C Cynthia Ireen 

Kanchunjulu
Waaza Phiri  CAM Nominees A/C Shabir Mussa ITF 

Laaibah S Mussa

Minutes of 6th Annual Meeting of FMBcapital Holdings Plc held on 20 June 2022 at 
15:30 from First Capital Bank Plc Training Centre, First House, Blantyre, Malawi

Proxy name Shareholder name
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Anastasia Chirambo
Waaza Phiri  CAM Nominees A/C Major and Fortune Mwawa
Waaza Phiri  CAM Nominees A/C David ITF Favour Mzandu
Waaza Phiri  CAM Nominees A/C David ITF Divine Mzandu
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Rowland Imran Masi
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Mayamiko Bazale
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Dr Kondwani Kawaza
Waaza Phiri  CAM Nominees A/C Henry Longogza Ngwira
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Dr Kelvin Mponda
Waaza Phiri  CAM Nominees A/C Jones Tennyson Chidothe
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Estelle Wongani Nuka
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Chifwayi Chirambo
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Shirley Mbawa
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Chatonda Manda
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Chikondi Senzani
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Kingsley Zulu
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Ida Fatch Suliwa
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Themba Mzilahowa
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Elizabeth Mafeni
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Sylvia Gomes
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Indiss Trust
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Story Workshop SFPP
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Robert Abbey
Waaza Phiri  CAM Nominees A/C Denzio Alexander Likungwa
Waaza Phiri  CAM Nominees A/C Mayamiko & Tereza 

Mtimaukanena
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Juliet Gomes
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Chisomo Masanche
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Joe Chakhumbira
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Devanand M. Amin
Waaza Phiri  CAM Nominees A/C Dr Rita Suresh Thejopal
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Raphael Kamoto
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C St Martins House
Waaza Phiri  CAM Nominees A/C Rosemary Mabel Wawanya
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Ian Charles Bonongwe
Waaza Phiri  CAM Nominees A/C Indira Sharma Surtee Trust
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Gomezgani Neba
Waaza Phiri  CAM Nominees A/C Benedicto and Victoria 

Nkhoma
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Bernard Mwenebungu
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Christopher Ngwira
Waaza Phiri  CAM Nominees A/C DDD & PC Charitable Trust
Waaza Phiri  CAM Nominees A/C ESCOM Self Insurance Fund
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Evarista Chafulumira
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C T.H. Trust
Waaza Phiri  CAM Nominees A/C Continental Unrestricted PF
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C O & A Trust
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Christopher Kapanga
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Matundu Mbulo Trust
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Praphul Lakhani
Waaza Phiri  CAM Nominees A/C Malawi Environmental 

Endowment Trust
Waaza Phiri CAM Nominees A/C Modecai Msisha
Frank Harawa  CAM Nominees A/C Luvinda General Dealers
Joe Maere Investment Perspective
R.K. Jere Reeco

5NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



Proxy name Shareholder name
Hitesh Anadkat N G Anadkat Limited
Hitesh Anadkat Livingstone Exports Ltd
Hitesh Anadkat Livingstone Holdings Limited
Hitesh Anadkat Prime Bank Limited
Hitesh Anadkat Premier Capital (Mauritius) Limited
Hitesh Anadkat Prime Capital Holdings Limited
Hitesh Anadkat Magni Holdings Limited
Hitesh Anadkat  Summerhill Trust Company (Isle of Man) 

ATF The Bluestar Trust
Hitesh Anadkat  Summerhill Trust Company (Isle of Man) 

ATF The Jasmine Trust
Hitesh Anadkat  Summerhill Trust Company (Isle of Man) 

ATF The Kalamata Trust
Hitesh Anadkat  Summerhill Trust Company (Isle of Man) 

ATF The Lotus Trust
Hitesh Anadkat  Summerhill Trust Company (Isle of Man) 

ATF The Picconia Trust
Hitesh Anadkat  Summerhill Trust Company (Isle of Man) 

ATF The Pisage Declaration Trust
Hitesh Anadkat  Summerhill Trust Company (Isle of Man) 

ATF The Raus Declaration Trust

Observers Capacity
Vishal Agrawal Deloitte (External Auditors)
Vilengo Beza Deloitte (External Auditors)
Evelyn Kajawo Deloitte (External Auditors)
Mark Lackson Ernst & Young (Scrutineer)
Joseph Nkhonjera Ernst & Young (Scrutineer)
Madalitso Mittochi Malawi Stock Exchange
Kelline E. Kanyangala Malawi Stock Exchange
Douglas David Nyirenda Malawi Stock Exchange
Gloria Maere I.P. Investments
Francis Chikadza Liberty Office
Kondwani Nyirongo Cedar Capital Ltd
Justin Mkweu Times Group
Lumbani Ambrose Times Group
Mayamiko Phiri Malavi Post Online
Rachael Phoebe Nyasulu Misalico
William Matewere Misalico / INVESCO
Garri Mathanga Old Mutual
Tafadzwa Mwawa CCL
Mercy Chome CCL
Steven Mkweteze Journalist
Lucia Chola Not declared
Bessie Nkwazi Not declared
Mwai Mkezalamba Not declared

Quorum
The Chairman reported that a quorum of members was 
present, and he called the meeting to order at 3:30 pm. 
It was agreed that the notice of the meeting, which was 
properly given, be taken as read.

Scrutineer
The Chairman informed the meeting that he had appointed 
Ernst and Young as independent scrutineer of the voting at 
the meeting.

1. Approval of Minutes of the Last Annual 
Meeting
The resolution to note and approve the minutes of the 
5th Annual Meeting of the Company held virtually on 
21 June 2021 and circulated to members before the 
6th Annual meeting were approved as a true record of 
the Meeting.

2. Audited Financial Statements
The resolution to receive and adopt the audited 
annual financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2021, together with the reports of the 
auditors and directors thereon, was approved and 
adopted.

3. Dividend
The resolution was presented to declare a final dividend 
amounting to US$2,458,250.00 in respect of profits 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 representing 
0.10 US cents per ordinary share as recommended 
by the Directors. The final dividend would be paid on 
22 July 2022 to shareholders whose names appear 
on the register of members as at close of business on 
15 July 2022. The register of members would be closed 
from 18 July to 22 July 2022. During this time, no share 
transactions would be conducted.

As recommended by directors, a final dividend of 
USD 2 458 250 representing 0.10 US Cents per ordinary share 
in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2021 was 
approved and adopted by the members.

4. Directors Appointments and Remuneration
4.1. The resolution to appointment as directors of 

Mr. Mahendra Gursahani, Mr. Hitesh Anadkat and 
Ms. Susanne Alfs, who retired by rotation, but being 
eligible, offered themselves for re-election, was 
presented. This resolution was approved and adopted 
by the members for each of the directors noted. 

4.2. The resolution to authorise non-executive 
directors to determine the remuneration of the 
executive directors for the forthcoming year, 
31 December 2022, was approved and adopted by 
the members.

4.3. The resolution to restructure directors’ fees and 
allowances as a lumpsum for the Chairman and 
other non-executive directors for the year ending 
31 December 2022 was adopted and the following 
annual fees were approved accordingly:

 4.3.1.  The annual fees for the Chairman of 
USD 20 000.

 4.3.2.  The annual fees for the Chairman of 
USD 40 000 as a retained for his time spent  
on Group board responsibilities.

 4.3.3.  The annual fees for other non-executive 
directors of USD 18 000.

5. Auditors
5.1. The resolution to pay audit fees of USD 94 875.00 

inclusive of tax to Deloitte in respect of the audit of 
the annual financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2021 was adopted and approved.

5.2. The resolution to re-appoint Deloitte as auditor of 
the Company for the year ending 31 December 2022 
was adopted and approved.

6



6. Alteration of Company Constitution
Resolution to alter the Constitution to include the 
following clauses in accordance with section 44(2) of 
the Companies Act 2001, was approved as follows. 
For paragraph “h”, the shareholders present were advised 
that the provision already existed in the constitution 
and would therefore not require further action by the 
members of the Company:

(a) the terms “FMB Capital Holdings Plc” and “FMB Capital 
Holdings Ltd” be replaced by “FMBcapital Holdings 
Plc” throughout the Constitution;

(b)  a new definition be inserted in clause 1.1 of the 
Constitution as follows: 
“Resident Directors has the meaning given to it under 
clause 23.1.2.”

(c) the existing clause 3 of the Constitution be deleted 
and replaced by the following: 
“The registered office of the Company will be situated 
at C/o JTC Fiduciary Services (Mauritius) Limited, Suite 
2004, Level 2, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène, 
Mauritius or in such other place as the Board may, 
from time to time, determine.”

(d) a new paragraph be inserted after clause 18.2.3 of 
the Constitution, as follows: 
“Where the Board declares a dividend, it shall ensure 
that that dividend is paid not later than 12 months 
after the date on which the dividend is declared.”

(e) the existing clause 22.1(b) of the Constitution be 
deleted and replaced by the following: 
“not later than nine (9) months after the Balance Sheet 
Date of the Company; and”

(f) a new paragraph be inserted after clause 22.5.4 of 
the Constitution, as follows: 
“The notice shall be accompanied by a detailed agenda 
together with any other document relevant to the 
meeting.”

(g) the existing clause 23.1.1 of the Constitution be 
deleted and replaced by the following: 
“The Board shall consist of not less than 5 (five) and not 
more than 11 (eleven) Directors of which 2 (two) shall 
be resident in Mauritius.”

(h) the existing clause 23.1.2 of the Constitution be 
deleted and replaced by the following: 
“Save for the 2 (two) Directors resident in Mauritius 
(the “Resident Directors”), each holder of twelve 
and a half percent (12.5%) of the share capital of the 
Company can appoint 1 Director by giving written 
notice to the Company to that effect. The appointment 
shall take effect on the date on which the notice is 
received by the Company or, if a later date is given in 
the notice, on that date, subject at all times to the 
consent form being signed by the proposed Director. 
The 2 Resident Directors shall be appointed by Ordinary 
Resolution.”

(i) a new paragraph (n) be added in clause 24.3.1 of the 
Constitution as follows: 
“at all times act in a manner which is not, oppressive, 
unfairly discriminatory, or unfairly prejudicial to the 
Shareholders.”

(j) a new paragraph be inserted in clause 33 of the 
Constitution as follows: 
“The Directors shall, at all times and even where the 
Company is removed from the register, ensure that the 
records referred to above are kept for a period of at 
least 7 (seven) years from the date of the completion of 
the transaction, act or operation to which it relates.”

7. Issue of further shares
7.1. Resolution to authorise the directors to issue, for 

cash and in accordance with Rules 5.84 to 5.92 of 
the Listings Requirements of the Malawi Stock 
Exchange, new ordinary shares of the Company up to 
a maximum of 368 737 500 shares, equivalent to 15% 
of the total issued ordinary shares at the beginning 
of the 2021 financial year, was approved. This 
authority was approved as valid until the date of the 
next annual meeting of the Company provided that 
the authority will not extend beyond 15 months from 
the date of the resolution.

8. Other Business
There being no other business of which due notice had 
been given, the meeting was closed.

Terence Davidson
Chairman

7NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



The Companies Act 2001
A public company limited by shares

Constitution
of FMBcapital Holdings Plc
(as adopted by a Special Resolution of 
the Company passed on 19 June 2023)

8



1 Definitions and interpretation 10

2 Name of company 12

3 Registered office 12

4 Balance sheet date 12

5 Type of company 12

6 Legal Personality and Duration 12

7 Capacity 12

8 Shares 12

9 Issuing of further shares 12

10 Pre-emptive rights 13

11 Share registers 13

12 Calls on shares 14

13 Forfeiture of shares 14

14 Share certificates 15

15 Transfer and transmission of shares 15

16 Refusal to register transfers 16

17 Distributions 17

18 Dividends 17

19 Acquisition of company's own shares 17

20 Reduction of stated capital 17

21 Exercise of powers reserved to 
shareholders 18

Contents

22 General meetings 18

23 Appointment and removal of directors 23

24 Powers and duties of the board 24

25 Proceedings of the board 26

26 Remuneration and other interests of 
directors 26

27 Executive directors 28

28 Indemnity and insurance 28

29 Secretary 29

30 Winding up 30

31 Common seal, authentication of deeds 
and documents 31

32 Actions of proceedings 32

33 Company records 33

34 Notices 33

35 Accounts 31

36 Revocation of Power of Attorney 31

37 Auditors 31

38 Service of documents 31

39 Removal from the Mauritius register 32

40 Alteration of Constitution 32

41 Arbitration 32

9NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



Constitution
of

FMBcapital Holdings Plc
A Public Company Limited by Shares

PURSUANT TO THE COMPANIES ACT 2001

1	 Definitions	and	interpretation
1.1 In this Constitution, unless the context otherwise requires, the following words and expressions shall have the 

following meanings: 

Accounting Year means a year starting on 1st January extending to the 31st December in any year.

Act means the Companies Act 2001 of Mauritius.

Alternate Director means a Director appointed pursuant to clause 23.6.

Amalgamation means the completed act of the Company and one or more other companies amalgamating 
pursuant to Sections 244 to 252 of the Act.

Annual Meeting means a meeting of Shareholders held pursuant to Section 115 of the Act.

Balance Sheet Date means the date adopted by the Company as the end of its financial year for the purpose of 
its annual financial statements.

Board means the Directors numbering not less than the required quorum acting together as the Board of 
Directors of the Company.

Call means a resolution of the Board under clause 12 requiring Shareholders to pay all or part of the unpaid 
amount of the issue price of any Shares and, where the context requires, means the obligation of a Shareholder 
to meet the amount due pursuant to such a resolution.

Class and Class of Shares means a Class of Shares having attached to them identical rights, privileges, 
limitations, and conditions.

Chairperson means the Chairperson of the Board, elected under clause 25.1. 

Company means FMBcapital Holdings Plc. 

Constitution means this Constitution of the Company and all amendments to it made from time to time.

Day means calendar days. 

Director means, subject to Section 128 of the Act, a person appointed and continuing in office for the time 
being, in accordance with this Constitution, as a Director of the Company.

Distribution in relation to Shares held by a Shareholder, means the direct or indirect transfer of money or 
property, other than Shares, by the Company, to or for the benefit of that Shareholder; or the incurring of a 
debt by the Company to or for the benefit of a Shareholder, whether by means of a purchase of property, the 
redemption or other acquisition of Shares, a Distribution of indebtedness or by some other means.

Dividend means a Distribution by the Company other than a Distribution to which section 68 (acquisition of 
Company’s own Shares) or section 81 (financial assistance in acquisition of company’s shares) of the Act applies. 

Financial Year means the Accounting Year. 

General Meeting means any meeting of Shareholders.

Interests Register means a register kept by the Company at its registered office as required by section 190(2)(c) 
of the Act.

International Accounting Standards means the International Accounting Standards issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Committee; and includes the Interpretations of the Standing Interpretations Committee 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Committee; and any other entity to which the responsibility 
for setting accounting standards has been assigned by the International Accounting Standards Committee.

Major Transaction in relation to the Company, means, subject to Sections 130(5) and 130(6) of the Act:

(a) the acquisition of, or an agreement to acquire, whether contingent or not, assets the value of which is 
more than seventy-five per cent (75%) of the value of the Company’s assets before the acquisition; or

(b) the disposition of; or an agreement to dispose of assets of the Company the value of which is more than 
seventy-five per cent (75%) of the value of the Company’s assets before the disposition; or

(c) transaction that has or is likely to have the effect of the Company acquiring rights or interests or incurring 
obligations or liabilities, the value of which is more than seventy-five per cent (75%) of the value of the 
Company’s assets before the transaction.

10



Month means a calendar month.

Notices means any communication between the Company and a Shareholder or director on any matter. 

Ordinary Resolution means a resolution approved by a simple majority of the votes of those Shareholders 
entitled to vote and voting on the matter which is the subject of the resolution. 

Ordinary Share means a share which confers on the holder:

(a) the right to vote at meetings of Shareholders and on a poll to cast one vote for each share held;

(b) subject to the rights of any other Class of Shares, the right to an equal share in Dividends and other 
Distributions made by the Company; and

(c) subject to the rights of any other Class of Shares, the right to an equal share in the Distribution of the 
surplus assets of the Company on its liquidation. 

Register of Debenture Holders means the Register of Debenture Holders required to be kept by section 124 of 
the Act.

Registrar means the Registrar of Companies appointed under section 10 of the Act.

Relevant Stock Exchange means a stock exchange in any country on which the Company may be listed. 

Resident Directors has the meaning given to it under clause 23.1.2.

Share means a share of whatever Class in the share capital of the Company.

Shareholder means a person:

(a) whose name is entered in the Share Register as the holder for the time being of one or more Shares; or

(b) until the person’s name is entered in the Share Register , a person named as a Shareholder in the 
application for registration of the Company at the time of incorporation of the Company; or 

(c) until the person’s name is entered in the Share Register, a person who is entitled to have his name entered 
in the Share Register under a registered Amalgamation proposal, as a shareholder in an amalgamated 
company. 

Share Register means the register of Shares required to be maintained by clause 11 of this Constitution and 
section 91 of the Act.

Signed

(a) means subscribed by a person under his hand with his signature; and

(b) includes the signature of the person given electronically where it carries that person’s personal 
encryption.

Solvency Test has the meaning as set out in section 6 of the Act.

Special Meeting means any meeting (other than an Annual Meeting) of the Shareholders entitled to vote on an 
issue, called at any time by the Board, or by any other person who is authorised by this Constitution or by the Act 
to call Special Meetings of Shareholders.

Special Resolution means a resolution of Shareholders approved by a majority of seventy-five per cent (75 %) of 
the votes of those Shareholders entitled to vote and voting on the question. 

Unanimous Resolution means a resolution which has the assent of every Shareholder entitled to vote on the 
matter which is the subject of the resolution in accordance with Section 106 of the Act.

Unanimous Shareholders’ Agreement means an agreement whereby all Shareholders agree to or concur in any 
action which has been taken or is to be taken by the Company.

Writing includes the recording of words in a permanent or legible form and the display of words by any form 
of electronic or other means of communication in a manner that enables the word to be readily stored in a 
permanent form and, with or without the aid of any equipment, to be retrieved and read.

1.2 Rules of interpretation

(a) Unless defined above, capitalised words and expressions have the same meaning as in the Act.

(b) Words importing the singular include the plural and vice versa.

(c) A reference to a person includes any firm, company, or group of persons, whether corporate or 
unincorporated.

(d) Words importing one gender include the other genders.

(e) Subject to this clause 1, expressions contained in this Constitution bear the same meaning as specified in 
the Act at the date on which this Constitution becomes binding on the Company.

(f) A reference to a clause means a clause of this Constitution.

(g) The clause headings are included for convenience only and do not affect the construction of this 
Constitution.

11NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



2 Name of company
2.1 The name of the Company is FMBcapital Holdings Plc. 

2.2 The name of the Company shall be clearly stated in every written communication sent by, or on behalf of, the 
Company; and on every document issued or signed by, or on behalf of, the Company and which evidences or 
creates a legal obligation to the Company.

3	 Registered	office
The registered office of the Company will be situated at C/o JTC Fiduciary Services (Mauritius) Limited, Unit 5ABC, 
Standard Chartered Tower, 19 Cybercity, Ebène, Mauritius or in such other place as the Board may, from time to time, 
determine.

4 Balance sheet date 
The balance sheet date of the Company is the 31 December of each year or such other day as the Board may determine 
from time to time.

5 Type of company
The Company shall be a public company limited by shares.

6 Legal personality and duration
The Company shall enjoy legal personality separate and distinct from its shareholders. The duration of the Company is 
unlimited. 

7 Capacity
Subject to the Act and any other enactment and the general law, the Company shall have full capacity to carry on and 
undertake any business or activity, to do any act or enter into any transaction both within and outside the Republic of 
Mauritius.

8 Shares
Existing Shares

The Company has on issue 100 Ordinary Shares of no-par value which confers upon its holder: 

(a) the right to one vote on a poll at a meeting of the Company on any resolution;

(b) the right to an equal share in dividends authorised by the Board; and

(c) the right to an equal share in the distribution of surplus assets of the Company.

9 Issuing of further shares
9.1 Issue of Shares 

9.1.1 The Board may, with the approval of an Ordinary Resolution, issue Shares (and rights or options to 
acquire Shares) of any Class at any time, to any person and in such numbers as approved by Ordinary 
Resolution.

9.1.2 Where the Company issues shares which rank equally with, or in priority, to existing shares as to voting 
or distribution rights, those shares shall be offered to the holders of existing Shares in a manner 
which would, if the offer were accepted, maintain the relative voting and distribution rights of those 
shareholders. 

9.1.3 Notwithstanding Clauses 9.1.1 and 9.1.2, 

(a) the Board may, in its discretion and without the approval of a shareholders’ resolution, issue 
the lower of the number of shares prescribed in any rules of a relevant Stock Exchange issuable 
without the approval of the shareholders, and the number of shares issuable under this Clause 
being:

(i) in any one Financial Year, 10% of the total number of outstanding Shares; 

(ii) in any three Financial Years, 15% of the total number of outstanding Shares;

(b) shares issued under paragraph (a) shall not be issued more than 15 months from the date of the 
Directors’ resolution approving such issue. 

9.1.4 If Shares are issued which do not carry voting rights, the words “non-voting” shall appear in the 
designation of such shares, and if Shares are issued with different voting rights, the designation of each 
Class of Shares, other than those with most favourable voting rights, shall include the words “restricted 
voting” or “limited voting”. 

9.2 Consideration for issue of Shares

9.2.1 Subject to clause 9.2.2, before the Board issues Shares it must:

(a) determine the amount of the consideration for which the Shares will be issued and the terms on 
which they will be issued;

12



(b) if the Shares are to be issued for consideration other than cash, determine the reasonable 
present cash value of the consideration for the issue and ensure that the present cash value of 
that consideration is fair and reasonable to the Company and is not less than the amount to be 
credited in respect of the Shares; and

(c) resolve that, in its opinion, the consideration for the Shares and their terms of issue are fair and 
reasonable to the Company and to all existing Shareholders.

9.2.2 Clause 9.2.1 shall not apply to the issue of Shares on the conversion of any convertible securities; or the 
exercise of any option to acquire Shares in the Company. 

9.3 Issue of Shares not paid for in cash

When issuing Shares for consideration other than cash, any one of the Directors or his agent authorized in 
writing shall sign a certificate:

(a) stating the present cash value of the consideration and the basis for assessing it;

(b) that the present cash value of the consideration is fair and reasonable to the Company and to all existing 
Shareholders; 

(c) that the present cash value of the consideration is not less than the amount to be credited in respect of 
the Shares; and

(d) a copy of the certificate given under clause 9.4 shall be filed with the Registrar within fourteen (14) days of 
its signature.

9.4 Amount owing on issue of Shares

Where money or other consideration is due at a fixed time to the Company on Shares in accordance with their 
terms of issue, that amount shall not be treated as a Call and no notice shall be required to be given to the 
Shareholder (or other person liable under the terms of issue) before the Company may enforce payment of the 
amount due.

10 Pre-emptive rights
10.1 Pre-emptive rights on new issue of Shares

Shares issued or proposed to be issued by the Company that rank or would rank as to voting or distribution 
rights, or both, equally with or prior to shares already issued by the Company shall, unless otherwise provided in 
the resolution approving the issue under clause 9.1 above, be offered to the holders of Shares already issued in 
a manner which would, if the offer were accepted, maintain the relative voting and distribution rights of those 
shareholders in accordance with the provisions of Section 55(1) of the Act. 

10.2 Time limit for acceptance

An offer under clause 10.1 shall remain open for acceptance for a reasonable time, which shall not be less than 
fourteen days.

10.3 Disposal of unwanted new shares

New shares offered to Shareholders pursuant to clause 10.1 above and not accepted within the prescribed time 
or in respect of which an intimation is received from the person to whom the offer is made declining such offer 
may be disposed of by the Board within a period of twelve months from the date of such authorisation in such 
manner as it thinks most beneficial to the Company.

11 Share registers 
11.1 The Company shall maintain:

(a) a share register in accordance with section 91 of the Act, which shall record all the shares issued by the 
Company and which shall state that there are no restrictions or limitations on their transfer; and

(b) a register of substantial shareholders recording their particulars in accordance with section 91 of the Act. 

11.2 The Company shall not be bound to register more than four persons as the joint holders of any share or shares 
and in the case of a share held jointly by several persons. The Company shall not be bound to issue more than 
one certificate therefor (where applicable), and delivery of a certificate for a share to one of several joint 
holders shall be sufficient delivery to all.

11.3 Trust not to be registered or recognised

Where any Shares are held in trust, the name of the trustee (acting in its capacity as trustee) shall be entered on 
the Share Register. This entry shall not imply that the Company has notice of the rights and obligations of any 
person under the Trust, whether express, implied, or constructive.

11.4 Branch Register

The Company may divide the share register into 2 or more registers in accordance with section 92 of the Act, and 
the directors may in that regard make and vary such regulations as they may think fit in respect of the keeping 
of any such register.

13NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



11.5 Closing of Share Register

The Company may, where so allowed by the Relevant Stock Exchange, close the Share Register for the purposes 
of determining entitlement of Shareholders to participate in a dividend or other corporate action. 

12 Calls on shares 
12.1 Board may make calls

The Board may from time to time make such calls as it thinks fit upon the shareholders in respect of any moneys 
unpaid on their Shares and, by the conditions of issue thereof, not made payable at a fixed time or times, and 
each shareholder shall, subject to receiving at least fourteen (14) working days’ written notice specifying the 
time or times and place of payment, pay to the Company at the time or times and place so specified the amount 
called. A call may be revoked or postponed as the Board may determine. 

12.2 Timing of calls

A call may be made payable at such times and in such amount as the Board may decide. Liability of joint holders.

The joint holders of a Share shall be jointly and severally liable to pay all calls in respect thereof.

12.3 Interest

If a sum called in respect of a Share is not paid before or on the time appointed for payment thereof, the person 
from whom the sum is due shall pay interest on that sum from the time appointed for payment thereof to the 
time of actual payment at such rate not exceeding ten percent (10%) per annum as the Board may determine, 
but the Board shall be at liberty to waive payment of that interest wholly or in part.

12.4 Instalments

Any sum which by the terms of issue of a share becomes payable on issue or at any fixed time shall for all 
purposes be deemed to be a call duly made and payable at the time at which by the terms of issue the same 
becomes payable, and in case of non-payment all the relevant provisions hereof relating to payment of interest 
and expenses, forfeiture or otherwise shall apply as if the sum had become payable by virtue of a call duly made 
and notified.

13 Forfeiture of shares
13.1 Notice of default

If any person liable therefor fails to pay any call or any instalment thereof at the time appointed for payment 
thereof, the Board may at any time thereafter serve notice on such person requiring payment of the moneys 
unpaid together with any interest which may have accrued.

13.2 Final payment date

The notice under clause 13.1 shall name a further day (not earlier than the expiry of fourteen (14) days from 
the date of service of the notice) on or before which the payment required by the notice is to be made, and 
shall state that in the event of non-payment on or before the time appointed, the shares in respect of which the 
money was owing will be liable to be forfeited.

13.3 Forfeiture

If the requirements of any such notice are not complied with, any share in respect of which the notice has been 
given may be forfeited at any time before the required payment has been made by a resolution of the Board to 
that effect. Any forfeiture under this clause shall include all dividends and bonuses declared in respect of the 
forfeited share and not actually paid before the forfeiture.

13.4 Disposal of forfeited shares

A forfeited share may be sold or otherwise disposed of on such terms and in such manner as the Board in its sole 
discretion thinks fit and, at any time before a sale or disposition, the forfeiture may be cancelled on such terms 
as the Board thinks fit. If any forfeited share shall be sold within twelve (12) months of the date of forfeiture, 
the residue, if any, of the proceeds of sale after payment of all costs and expenses of such sale or any attempted 
sale and all moneys owing in respect of the forfeited share and interest thereon as aforesaid shall be paid to the 
person whose share has been forfeited or to such person’s executors, administrators or assigns.

13.5 Cessation of shareholding

A person whose share has been forfeited shall cease to be a shareholder in respect of the forfeited share, but 
shall, nevertheless, remain liable to pay to the Company all money which, at the time of forfeiture, was payable 
by such person to the Company in respect of the share, but that liability shall cease if and when the Company 
receives payment in full of all such money in respect of the share.

13.6 Evidence of forfeiture

A statutory declaration in writing declaring that the declarant is a Director of the Company and that a share in 
the Company has been duly forfeited on a date stated in the declaration shall be conclusive evidence of the facts 
therein stated as against all persons claiming to be entitled to the share.

14



13.7 Validity of sale

The Company may receive the consideration, if any, given for a forfeited share on any sale or disposition 
thereof and may execute a transfer of the share in favour of the person to whom the share is sold or disposed 
of, and such person shall thereupon be registered as the holder of the share and shall not be bound to see 
to the application of the purchase money, if any, nor shall such person’s title to the share be affected by any 
irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings in reference to the forfeiture, sale or disposal of the share.

14	 Share	certificates
14.1 Company to issue share certificate

The Company shall, unless its shares have been deposited under a system conducted by a central depository and 
settlement company approved under the laws of Mauritius or of a foreign state, within twenty-eight (28) days 
after the issue or registration of a transfer of shares in the Company, as the case may be, send a share certificate 
to every holder of those shares stating:

(a) the name of the Company;

(b) the class of shares held by the shareholder; and

(c) the number of shares held by the shareholder.

14.2 A share certificate shall bear the seal of the Company which shall be affixed as provided in clause 31 provided 
that:

14.2.1 the directors may by resolution determine generally or in any particular case or cases that the 
signature of a director may be affixed by such mechanical means and to such certificates as the transfer 
secretaries may have approved in writing;

14.2.2 the directors may make it a condition to the issue of any partly paid shares that the member in whose 
name they are registered shall not be entitled to receive any certificates with respect to such shares 
while partly paid up.

14.3 Loss or destruction of share certificate

Where a certificate relating to a share or debenture is lost or destroyed, the Company shall, on application being 
made by the owner and on payment of the prescribed fee, within the parameter accepted by any Relevant Stock 
Exchange, issue a duplicate thereof in accordance with the provisions of Section 98 of the Act and only upon 
being satisfied that the original has been destroyed and that where the holder has sold part of his holding, he 
shall be entitled to a certificate for the balance without charge. 

15 Transfer and transmission of shares
15.1 Freedom to transfer is unlimited

There shall be no restrictions on the transfer of fully paid-up shares in the Company and the Company shall have 
no lien on fully paid shares. Transfers and other documents relating to or affecting the title to any shares shall 
be registered with the Company without payment of any fee.

15.2 Transfer of Shares

Every instrument of transfer of Shares shall be in writing in such common form as the directors may approve and 
subject to the provisions of the Act. The instrument of transfer of any share shall be executed by or on behalf of 
the transferor and the transferee and the transferor shall be deemed to remain a holder of the share until the 
name of the transferee is entered in the register of members in respect thereof.

15.3 Transmission

15.3.1 Shares of the Company depending from the estate of a deceased shareholder shall be transferred 
by the Board to the said shareholder’s heirs, legatees, widow or widower, as the case may be, on the 
Board being satisfied that the party applying for the transfer is entitled thereto; likewise, Shares of 
the Company depending from the bankruptcy or insolvency of a Shareholder, or from its winding up, 
or from a reduction of its share capital, if such shareholder is a company or a partnership, shall be 
transferred to such persons who shall satisfy the Board of their right to have such transfer in their 
names.

15.3.2 Every instrument of transfer shall be left at the transfer office of the Company, where there is 
one in any country where the Company’s Shares are listed, at which it is presented for registration 
accompanied by the certificate of the securities to be transferred and or such other evidence as the 
Company may require to prove the title of the transferor or his rights to transfer the securities. 

15.3.3 All authorities to sign transfer deeds granted by Shareholders for the purpose of transferring securities 
which may be lodged, produced or exhibited with or to the Company at any of its offices shall as 
between the Company and the grantor of such authorities be taken and deemed to continue and 
remain in full force and effect and the Company may allow the same to be acted upon until such time 
as express notice in writing of the revocation of the same shall have been given and lodged at the 
Company’s transfer offices at which the authority was lodged, produced or exhibited. 

15NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



15.3.4 The Company shall be entitled to give effect to any instruments signed under the authority to sign and 
certified by any officer of the Company even after the giving and lodging of such notices as being in 
order before the giving and lodging of such notice. 

15.3.5 Pending the division of Shares of the Company depending from the estate and succession of a 
deceased shareholder, or from the bankruptcy, or insolvency, or winding up or reduction of capital of a 
shareholder, and the registration thereof in the share register in the name of the party or in the names 
of the parties respectively entitled thereto, such party or parties shall have to appoint an agent for the 
purpose of receiving all dividends declared on such shares and of acting as their representative at all 
meetings of the Company.

15.4 Transfer of shares in pledge

15.4.1 Any Share or debenture may be given in pledge in all civil and commercial transactions.

15.4.2 The Company shall keep a register in which:

(a) the transfer of Shares or debentures given in pledge may be inscribed;

(b) it shall be stated that the pledgee holds the Share or debenture not as owner but in pledge of a 
debt the amount of which shall, in the case of a civil pledge, be mentioned or ascertainable.

15.4.3 A pledge shall be sufficiently proved by a transfer inscribed in the register.

15.4.4 The transfer shall be signed by the pledger and by the pledgee and by the secretary of the Company. 

16 Refusal to register transfers
16.1 Grounds for refusal

16.1.1 The Board shall refuse to register a transfer of a Share on which the Company has a lien. 

16.1.2 The Board may, for any good cause, which the Board shall solely and in its best judgment determine, 
decline:

(a) to register a transfer of a Share;

(b) to recognise any instrument of transfer unless:

16.2 Deposit of transfer

16.2.1 The instrument of transfer is deposited at the office of the Company accompanied by the certificate of 
the Shares to which it relates, and such other evidence as the Board may reasonably require to show the 
right of the transferor to make the transfer (and if the instrument of transfer is executed by some other 
person on his behalf, the authority of that person so to do).

16.2.2 All instruments of transfer which are registered may be retained by the Company.

16.3 Central Depository System

Notwithstanding clauses 16.1 and 16.2, the Company shall comply with the provisions of any applicable law or 
rules relating to the central depository, clearing and settlement of securities, whether in Mauritius or in any 
other jurisdiction.

16.4 Partly paid shares

In the case of partly paid shares, any amount already called thereon has been settled and the transfer document 
contains an undertaking by the transferee to pay on due date any amount payable in terms of the issue of the 
Share so transferred.

17 Distributions
17.1 Solvency Test

17.1.1 The final Distribution may only on recommendation of the directors be declared by the Company in 
General Meeting, but no Dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the directors. 

17.1.2 If the directors do not recommend a dividend on any class of quoted shares for any year, then 
the directors shall notify the relevant Stock Exchange in compliance with the applicable listing 
requirements. 

17.1.3 The Board may, without the approval of the Shareholders, if it is satisfied on reasonable grounds that 
the Company will satisfy the Solvency Test immediately after the Distribution, authorise an interim 
Distribution by the Company of any amount and to any class of the Shareholders. 

17.1.4 The Directors who vote in favour of a Distribution shall sign a certificate stating that, in their opinion, 
the Company will satisfy the Solvency Test immediately after the Distribution.

17.2 Shares in lieu of dividends

The Board may issue Shares to any Shareholders who have agreed to accept the issue of Shares, wholly or partly, 
in lieu of a proposed dividend or proposed future dividends provided that:

(a) the right to receive Shares, wholly or partly, in lieu of the proposed dividend or proposed future dividends 
has been offered to all Shareholders of the same Class on the same terms; 

16



(b) where all Shareholders elected to receive the Shares in lieu of the proposed dividend, relative voting, or 
distribution rights, or both, would be maintained;  

(c) the Shareholders to whom the right is offered are afforded a reasonable opportunity of accepting it; 

(d) the Shares issued to each Shareholder are issued on the same terms and subject to the same rights as the 
Shares issued to all Shareholders in that Class who agree to receive the Shares; and 

(e) the provisions of section 56 of the Act are complied with by the Board. 

18 Dividends
18.1 Deduction of unpaid calls

The Board may deduct from any dividend payable to any shareholder any sums of money, if any, presently 
payable by such shareholder to the Company on account of calls or otherwise in relation to the Shares on which 
such dividends are payable.

18.2 Payment by cheque or warrant

18.2.1 Any dividend, interest or other money payable in cash in respect of Shares may be paid by crossed 
cheque or warrant sent through the post directed to the registered address of the holder, or, in the 
case of joint holders, to the registered address of that one of the joint holders who is first named in the 
share register or to such person and to such address as the holder or joint holders may in writing direct. 
Every such cheque or warrant shall be made payable to the order of the person to whom it is sent. Any 
one of two or more joint holders may give effectual receipts for any dividends, bonuses, or other money 
payable in respect of the Shares held by them as joint holders. 

18.2.2 Payment may also be made by electronic means where the shareholder or the joint shareholders have 
consented in writing to that form of payment being used by the Company and the shareholder or joint 
shareholders have provided an account(s) to which money may be sent. 

18.2.3 Dividends shall be payable to the Shareholders registered as at a date subsequent to the date of 
declaration or date of confirmation of the dividend whichever is the later subject to the provisions 
of the Act. A minimum period of 14 days should be allowed between the date of declaration of the 
dividend, whichever is the later and the date of the closing of the registers of transfer in respect of 
such dividend. 

18.2.4 Where the Board declares a dividend, it shall ensure that the dividend is paid not later than the last 
date to register.

18.3 No interest

No dividend shall bear interest against the Company.

18.4 Unclaimed dividends

All dividends unclaimed for one year after having been authorised may be invested or otherwise made use of by 
the Board for the benefit of the Company until claimed, and all dividends unclaimed for a maximum of 12 years 
after having been declared may be forfeited by the Board for the benefit of the Company. At the expiry of 
12 years from the date of declaration of dividend, the holder of the Shares shall forfeit any claim to the dividend 
declared.

18.5 Dividends on Shares not fully paid up to be paid pro rata

Subject to the rights of persons, if any, entitled to Shares with special rights as to dividends, all dividends 
on shares not fully paid up shall be authorised and paid in proportion to the amount paid to the Company 
in satisfaction of the liability of the shareholder to the Company in respect of the Shares either under this 
constitution of the Company or pursuant to the terms of issue of the Shares. No amount paid or credited as 
paid on a Share in advance of calls shall be treated for these purposes as paid on the Share. All dividends shall 
be apportioned and paid proportionately to the amounts paid or credited as paid on the shares during any or 
portions of the period in respect of which the dividend is paid, but if any Share is issued on terms providing that 
it shall rank for dividend as from a particular date that share shall rank for dividend accordingly.

18.6 Declaration of dividends 

In the event the Board of the Company does not declare any dividends in a year on any class of Shares being 
listed, the Board shall, so long as the Company is listed on a Relevant Stock Exchange, send a notification of its 
decision to the secretary or other appointed official of that exchange. 

19 Acquisition of company’s own shares
The Company is hereby expressly authorised to purchase or otherwise acquire its Shares and may hold the acquired 
Shares in accordance with the Act. 

20 Reduction of stated capital
The Company may, to the extent provided by the provisions of Section 62 of the Act, by Special Resolution, reduce its 
stated capital to such amount as it thinks fit.

17NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



21 Exercise of powers reserved to shareholders
21.1 Powers reserved to Shareholders

21.1.1 Powers reserved to Shareholders of the Company by the Act or by this Constitution may be exercised:

(a) at a General Meeting; or
(b) by a resolution in lieu of a meeting pursuant to clause 22.3.
(c) by a Unanimous Resolution in writing.

21.1.2 Unless otherwise specified in the Act or this Constitution, a power reserved to Shareholders may be 
exercised by an Ordinary Resolution. 

21.2 Special Resolutions

21.2.1 When Shareholders exercise a power to approve any of the following, that power may only be exercised 
by a Special Resolution:

(a) an alteration to or revocation of this Constitution or the adoption of a new Constitution;

(b) a Major Transaction;

(c) an Amalgamation (except an amalgamation between related companies under section 247 of 
the Act);

(d) the liquidation of the Company.

21.2.2 Any decision made by Special Resolution pursuant to this clause may be rescinded only by a Special 
Resolution, provided that a resolution to put the Company into liquidation cannot be rescinded.

21.3 Management review by Shareholders

21.3.1 The Chairperson of any General Meeting shall give the Shareholders a reasonable opportunity to 
discuss and comment on the management of the Company.

21.3.2 A General Meeting may pass a resolution which makes recommendations to the Board on matters 
affecting the management of the Company.

21.3.3 A resolution relating to the management of the Company passed at a General Meeting (in accordance 
with clause 21.3) is not binding on the Board unless it is carried as a Special Resolution.

21.4 Dissenting Shareholder may require Company to purchase Shares

21.4.1 A Shareholder may require the Company to purchase its Shares where:

(a) a Special Resolution is passed under clause 21.2.1(a) for the purposes of altering the Constitution 
of the Company with a view to imposing or removing a restriction on the business or activities of 
the Company, or clause 21.2.1(b) or 21.2.1(c); and

(b) the Shareholder casts all the votes attached to Shares registered in his name and for which he is 
the beneficial owner against the resolution; or

(c) where the resolution to exercise the power was passed under section 117 of the Act, the 
Shareholder did not sign the resolution.

21.4.2 A request under clause 21.4.1 shall be addressed to the Company by the dissenting Shareholder by 
notice in Writing within fourteen (14) days of either the passing of the resolution at a General Meeting 
or the date on which notice of the passing of the written resolution is given to him.

21.4.3 Upon receiving a notice from a dissenting Shareholder given under clause 21.4.2, the Board shall to the 
extent that this is required in terms of the Act:

(a) agree to the purchase of the Shares by the Company from the Shareholder giving the notice; or

(b) arrange for some other person to agree to buy the Shares; or

(c) apply to the Court under section 112 or section 113 of the Act for an order exempting the 
Company from the obligation to purchase the Shares; or

(d) arrange, before taking the action concerned, for the Special Resolution entitling the Shareholder 
to give the notice, to be rescinded by a Special Resolution, or decide in the appropriate manner 
not to take the action concerned.

21.4.4 The Board shall within twenty-eight (28) days of receipt of the notice under clause 21.4.2 give written 
notice to the dissenting Shareholder of its decision under clause 21.4.3.

21.4.5 Where the Board agrees to the Company purchasing the Shares, pursuant to clause (a), it shall do so in 
accordance with section 110 of the Act.

18



22 General meetings
22.1 Annual Meetings

The Board shall call an Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held:

(a) not more than once in each year;
(b) not later than nine (9) months after the Balance Sheet Date of the Company; and
(c) not later than fifteen (15) months after the previous Annual Meeting.

The business to be transacted at an Annual Meeting shall, unless already dealt with by the Company, include:

(a) the consideration and approval of the financial statements;
(b) the receiving of any auditor’s report;
(c) the consideration of the annual report;
(d) the appointment of any Directors including those whose annual appointment is required by the Act;
(e) the appointment of any auditor pursuant to Section 195 of the Act; 
(f) the remuneration of any Director and of the auditor; and
(g) power to sanction or declare a distribution on the recommendation of the Directors.

22.2 Special Meetings

A Special Meeting may be called at any time by the Board and shall be so called on the written request of 
Shareholders holding Shares carrying together not less than five per cent (5%) of the voting rights entitled to be 
exercised on the issue.

22.3 Resolution in lieu of meeting

Anything that may be done by the Company in General Meeting (other than an Annual Meeting) under the Act, 
or this Constitution may be done by a resolution in lieu of meeting in the manner provided for by section 117 of 
the Act. 

22.4 Chairperson 

22.4.1 Where the Directors have elected a Chairperson of the Board, and the Chairperson of the Board is 
present at a General Meeting, he shall chair the General Meeting. 

22.4.2 Where no Chairperson of the Board has been elected or if, at any General Meeting, the Chairperson of 
the Board is not present within fifteen (15) minutes of the time appointed for the commencement of 
the General Meeting, the Directors present shall elect one of their number to be Chairperson of the 
General Meeting. 

22.4.3 Where no Director is willing to act as Chairperson, or where no Director is present within fifteen (15) 
minutes of the time appointed for holding the General Meeting, the Shareholders present may choose 
one of their number to be Chairperson of the General Meeting. 

22.5 Notice of General Meetings

22.5.1 Written notice of the time and place of a General Meeting shall be sent to every Shareholder entitled to 
receive notice of the General Meeting and to every Director, secretary, and auditor of the Company not 
less than twenty-one (21) days before the General Meeting. 

22.5.2 Notice of meeting may also be sent to a Shareholder by electronic means of communication provided 
that – the shareholder has consented in writing to that form of communication being used by Company; 
and the Shareholder has provided an electronic address to which such communication may be sent. 

22.5.3 In the event of a notice given by advertisement, such notice shall be published in English and in at least 
two daily newspapers of wide circulation in the country where the Company maintains a listing on a 
relevant Stock Exchange. 

22.5.4 The notice shall state: 

(a) the nature of the business to be transacted at the General Meeting in sufficient detail to enable a 
Shareholder to form a reasoned judgment in relation to it; and 

(b) the text of any Ordinary or Special Resolution to be submitted to the General Meeting. 

22.5.5 The notice shall be accompanied by a detailed agenda together with any other document relevant to 
the meeting.

22.5.6 Any irregularity in a notice of a General Meeting shall be waived where all the Shareholders entitled 
to attend and vote at the General Meeting attend the General Meeting without protest as to the 
irregularity, or where all such Shareholders agree to the waiver.

22.5.7 Any accidental omission to give notice of a General Meeting to, or the failure to receive notice of a 
General Meeting by, a Shareholder shall not invalidate the proceedings at that General Meeting.

22.5.8 The Chairperson may, or where directed by the General Meeting, shall, adjourn the General Meeting 
from time to time and from place to place, but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned General 
Meeting other than the business left unfinished at the General Meeting from which the adjournment 
took place. 

22.5.9 When a General Meeting is adjourned for thirty (30) days or more, notice of the adjourned General 
Meeting shall be given as in the case of an original General Meeting or by way of an advertisement in 
one or more daily newspapers of wide circulation in each of the countries where the Company is listed 
on a Relevant Stock Exchange, if the adjournment is less than twenty-one (21 days).

19NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



22.6 Methods of holding General Meetings

22.6.1 A General Meeting shall be held either: 

(a) by a number of Shareholders who constitute a quorum, being assembled together at the place, 
date, and time appointed for the General Meeting; or 

(b) by means of audio, or audio and visual, communication by which all Shareholders participating and 
constituting a quorum, can simultaneously hear each other throughout the General Meeting.

22.6.2 Anything that may be done by the Company in General Meeting under the Act, or this Constitution may 
be done by a resolution in lieu of meeting in the manner provided for by section 117 of the Act. 

22.7 Quorum

22.7.1 Where a quorum is not present, no business shall, subject to clause 22.7.4, be transacted at a General 
Meeting.

22.7.2 There shall be a quorum for holding a General Meeting where at least two Shareholders or their proxies 
are present, and they make up, between them, no less than 50% of the total voting rights of the issued 
Shares.

22.7.3 A quorum for a class meeting (other than an adjourned meeting) to consider a variation of the rights 
of any class of shareholders shall be met where the Shareholders or their proxies present, make up 
between them one third of the voting rights of the shares of that class. 

22.7.4 Where a quorum is not present within thirty (30) minutes after the time appointed for the General 
Meeting:

(a) in the case of a General Meeting called under section 118(1)(b) of the Act, the General Meeting 
shall be dissolved;

(b) in the case of any other General Meeting, the General Meeting shall be adjourned to the same 
day in the following week at the same time and place, or to such other date, time and place as the 
Directors may appoint; and 

(c) where, at the adjourned General Meeting, a quorum is not present within thirty (30) minutes after 
the time appointed for the General Meeting, the Shareholders or their proxies present shall be a 
quorum. 

22.8 Voting

22.8.1 Where a General Meeting is held under clause 22.6 (a), unless a poll is demanded, voting at the General 
Meeting shall be by whichever of the following methods is decided by the Chairperson of the General 
Meeting:

(a) voting by voice; or 

(b) voting by show of hands. 

22.8.2 Where a General Meeting is held under clause 22.6 (b), unless a poll is demanded, voting at the General 
Meeting shall be by the Shareholders signifying individually their assent or dissent by voice.

22.8.3 A declaration by the Chairperson of the General Meeting that a resolution is carried by the requisite 
majority shall be conclusive evidence of that fact unless a poll is demanded in accordance with clause 
22.8.4.

22.8.4 At a General Meeting, a poll may be demanded by:

(a) not less than five (5) Shareholders having the right to vote at the General Meeting;

(b) a Shareholder or Shareholders representing not less than ten percent (10%) of the total voting 
rights of all Shareholders having the right to vote at the General Meeting;

(c) by a Shareholder or Shareholders holding Shares in the Company that confer a right to vote at the 
General Meeting and on which the aggregate amount paid up is not less than ten percent (10%) of 
the total amount paid up on all Shares that confer that right; or

(d) the Chairperson of the General Meeting.

22.8.5 A poll shall be demanded either before or after the vote is taken on a resolution.

22.8.6 Where a poll is taken, votes shall be counted according to the votes attached to the Shares of each 
Shareholder present in person or by proxy and voting. 

22.8.7 The demand for a poll may be withdrawn.

22.8.8 Where a poll is duly demanded, it shall, subject to this clause 22.8, be taken in such manner as the 
Chairperson directs, and the result of the poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the General 
Meeting at which the poll is demanded.

22.8.9 A poll demanded on the election of a Chairperson or on a question of adjournment, shall be taken 
immediately. On any other question, if a poll is demanded, it shall be taken at such time and place as 
the General Meeting directs. And any business other than that on which a poll is demanded may be 
proceeded with pending the taking of the poll.

20



22.8.10 The Chairperson of a General Meeting shall not be entitled to a casting vote.

22.8.11 For the purposes of clause 22.8, the instrument appointing a proxy to vote at a General Meeting 
shall confer authority to demand or join in demanding a poll and a demand by a person as proxy for a 
Shareholder shall have the same effect as a demand by the Shareholder.

22.8.12 Subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any Class of Shares, every 
Shareholder present in person or by proxy and voting by voice or by show of hands and every 
Shareholder voting by postal vote (where this is permitted) shall have one vote.

22.8.13 The Chairperson may demand a poll on a resolution either before or after a vote thereon by voice or by 
show of hands.

22.8.14 In case of Shares conferring the right to vote burdened with an usufruct, the bare owner thereof shall 
be the only person entitled to vote.

22.8.15 Any power which the Act or this Constitution requires to be exercised by an Ordinary Resolution or a 
Special Resolution may be exercised by way of a Unanimous Resolution.

22.9 Proxies

22.9.1 A Shareholder shall exercise the right to vote either by being present in person or by proxy. 

22.9.2 A proxy for a Shareholder may attend and be heard at a General Meeting as if the proxy were the 
Shareholder. 

22.9.3 A proxy shall be appointed by notice in Writing signed by the Shareholder and the notice shall state 
whether the appointment is for a particular General Meeting or a specified term. 

22.9.4 No proxy shall be effective in relation to a General Meeting unless a copy of the notice of appointment 
is produced not less than twenty-four (24) hours before the start of the General Meeting.

22.9.5 Any power of attorney or other authority under which the proxy is signed or a notarially certified copy 
shall also be produced.

22.9.6 A proxy form shall be sent with each notice calling a General Meeting of the Company.

22.9.7 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in Writing under the hand of the appointer or of his agent 
duly authorised in Writing or in the case of a corporation under the hand of an officer or of an agent 
duly authorised.

22.9.8 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in the following form:

FMBcapital Holdings Plc

I/we _________________________________ of ________________________________ being a shareholder/s of 

the above-named Company hereby appoint _____________________________________________________ of 

_________________________________ or failing him/her, ___________________________________________ of

___________________________________________ _ or the Chairperson as my/our proxy to vote for me/us at 

the Annual/Special Meeting of the Company to be held at ________ on _____________________ and at any 
adjournment thereof. 

Signed this ________________________________ day of ___________________________________

(Usual Signature/s)

22.10 Postal votes and Electronic Votes

Postal Vote 

22.10.1 The right to vote at a meeting by casting a postal vote is hereby prohibited.

Electronic Vote

22.10.2 A shareholder may exercise the right to vote at a meeting by casting an electronic vote in accordance 
with this clause 22.10.

22.10.3 The notice of a meeting at which shareholders are entitled to cast an electronic vote must state:

(a) That a shareholder may exercise the right to vote at a meeting by casting an electronic vote; and

(b) Subject to clause 22.10.4, the name of the person authorised by the Board to receive and count 
electronic votes at that meeting.

22.10.4 If no person has been authorised to receive and count electronic votes at a meeting, or if no person 
is named as being so authorised in the notice of the meeting, then every Director is deemed to be so 
authorised.

22.10.5 A shareholder may cast an electronic vote on all or any of the matters to be voted on at the meeting 
by sending a notice of the manner in which his or her Shares are to be voted to a person authorised to 
receive and count electronic votes at that meeting. The notice must reach that person not less than 
48 hours before the start of the meeting.

21NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



22.10.6 It is the duty of a person authorised to receive and count electronic votes at a meeting:

(a) to collect together all electronic votes received by him or her, or by the Company; and

(b) in relation to each resolution to be voted on at the meeting, to count:

(i) the number of shareholders voting in favour of the resolution and the number of votes cast 
by each Shareholder in favour of the resolution; and

(ii) the number of shareholders voting against the resolution, and the number of votes cast by 
each Shareholder against the resolution; and

(iii) to sign a certificate that he or she has carried out the duties set out in paragraphs (a) and (b) 
of this sub-clause and which sets out the results of the counts required by paragraph (b) of 
this sub-clause; and

(iv) to ensure that the certificate required by paragraph (c) of this sub-clause is presented to the 
Chairperson of the meeting.

22.10.7 If a vote is taken at a meeting on a resolution on which electronic votes have been cast, the Chairperson 
of the meeting must:

(a) On a vote by show of hands, count each shareholder who has submitted an electronic vote for or 
against the resolution;

(b) On a poll, count the votes cast by each shareholder who has submitted an electronic vote for or 
against the resolution.

22.10.8 The Chairperson of a meeting must call for a poll on a resolution on which he or she holds sufficient 
electronic votes where he or she believes that if a poll is taken the result may differ from that obtained 
on a show of hands.

22.10.9 The Chairperson of a meeting must ensure that a certificate of electronic votes held by him or her is 
annexed to the minutes of the meeting.

22.11 Minutes

22.11.1 The Board shall ensure that minutes are kept of all proceedings at General Meetings.

22.11.2 Minutes which have been certified correct and signed by the Chairperson of the General Meeting shall 
be prima facie evidence of the proceedings.

22.12 Shareholder proposals

22.12.1 A Shareholder may give written notice to the Board of a matter the Shareholder proposes to raise for 
discussion or resolution at the next General Meeting at which the Shareholder is entitled to vote.

22.12.2 Where the notice is received by the Board not less than seven (7) days and not more than twenty-eight 
(28) days before the last day on which notice of the relevant General Meeting is required to be given by 
the Board, shall, at the expense of the Shareholder, give notice of the shareholder’s proposal and the 
text of any proposed resolution to all Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the General Meeting.

22.12.3 Where the notice is received by the Board less than seven (7) days before the last day on which notice of 
the relevant General Meeting of shareholders required to be given by the Board, the Board may, where 
practicable, and at the expense of the Shareholder, give notice of the Shareholder’s proposal and the 
text of any proposed resolution to all Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the General Meeting.

22.12.4 Where the Directors intend that Shareholders may vote on the proposal by proxy, they shall give the 
proposing Shareholder the right to include in or with the notice given by the Board a statement of 
not more than one thousand (1000) words prepared by the proposing Shareholder in support of the 
proposal, together with the name and address of the proposing Shareholder.

22.12.5 The Board shall not be required to include in or with the notice given by the Board a statement 
prepared by a Shareholder which the Directors consider to be defamatory, frivolous, or vexatious.

22.12.6 Where the costs of giving notice of the Shareholder’s proposal and the text of any proposed resolution 
are required to be met by the proposing Shareholder, the proposing Shareholder shall, on giving notice 
to the Board, deposit with the Company or tender to the Company a sum sufficient to meet those costs.

22.13 Corporations may act by representative

A body corporate which is a Shareholder may appoint a representative to attend a General Meeting on its behalf 
in the same manner as that in which it could appoint a proxy.

22.14 Votes of joint holders

Where two (2) or more persons are registered as the holder of a Share, the vote of the person named first in the 
Share Register and voting on a matter shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders.

22.15 No voting right where Calls unpaid

Where a sum due to the Company in respect of a Share has not been paid, that Share shall not confer a right to 
vote at a shareholder’s meeting. 

22.16 Other proceedings

Unless otherwise expressly provided in this Constitution, a General Meeting may regulate its own procedure.

22



23 Appointment and removal of directors
23.1 Number of Directors

23.1.1 The Board shall consist of not less than 6 (six) and not more than 12 (twelve) Directors of which 2 (two) 
shall be resident in Mauritius. 

23.1.2 Save for the 2 (two) Directors resident in Mauritius (the “Resident Directors”), each holder of twelve 
and a half percent (12.5%) of the share capital of the Company can appoint one Director by giving 
written notice to the Company to that effect. The appointment shall take effect on the date on which 
the notice is received by the Company or, if a later date is given in the notice, on that date, subject at all 
times to the consent form being signed by the proposed Director. The two Resident Directors shall be 
appointed by Ordinary Resolution. 

23.2 Appointment of Directors 

23.2.1 As at the date of adoption of this Constitution, the number of Directors of the Company is two.

23.2.2 All directors shall retire at the first annual General Meeting following the adoption of this new 
Constitution, and at each subsequent annual General Meeting, at least one third of the directors shall 
vacate the office by rotation, which initial manner of rotation may be determined by the Chairperson. 
Retiring Directors are eligible to reappointment.

23.2.3 In addition to the appointment of Directors under clause 23.3, a Director must be appointed by an 
Ordinary Resolution. 

23.2.4 No person not being a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the Board for 
election, be eligible for appointment to the office of Director at any general meeting unless, not 
less than seven days before the day appointed for the meeting there shall have been received by 
the Secretary notice from a member (other than the person to be proposed) entitled to attend and 
vote at the meeting for which such notice shall be given of the intention of such member to propose 
such person for appointment. The required minimum period of notice to the Company by such 
person proposed of his willingness to be elected shall be at least seven days and that the latest date 
for lodgement of such notices shall be not more than seven days prior to the date of the meeting 
appointed for such election.

23.2.5 A resolution to appoint two or more Directors may be voted on one resolution without each 
appointment being voted individually only if a resolution that it shall be so made has first been agreed 
to by the meeting without any vote being given against it. 

23.3 Directors may fill up Casual Vacancy

23.3.1 Notwithstanding clauses 23.1 and 23.2, the Directors shall have power at any time, and from time to 
time, to appoint any person to be a Director, either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the 
existing Directors but so that the total number of Directors shall not at any time exceed the number 
fixed in accordance with this Constitution. The Director so appointed shall hold office only until the 
next following annual General Meeting and shall then be eligible for re-election.

23.3.2 The continuing Directors shall act notwithstanding any vacancy on the Board. If their number is reduced 
below the number fixed by, or pursuant to, this Constitution as the minimum number of Directors, the 
continuing Directors will act only for the purpose of summoning a General Meeting of the Company or 
filling vacancies.

23.4 Disqualification vacation of office and removal of Directors

23.4.1 A person will be debarred from holding the office of Director, or if already appointed as Director, shall 
cease to hold office as Director, where that person:

(a) is removed by Ordinary Resolution passed at a General Meeting called for that purpose; or

(b) resigns in Writing and is not reappointed in accordance with this Constitution; or

(c) is required to vacate office at the expiry of his tenure in accordance with the terms of his 
appointment; or

(d) is declared unfit to serve office as a director by a decision of a regulatory authority in any country 
where the Company is conducting business; 

(e) becomes disqualified from being a Director pursuant to section 133 of the Act; or

(f) is prohibited from being a Director or promoter of or being concerned with or taking part in the 
management of a Company under section 337 or 338 of the Act; or

(g) dies; or

(h) is under eighteen (18) years of age; or

(i) is an undischarged bankrupt.

23.4.2 A person shall cease automatically to be a director at the conclusion of the annual meeting commencing 
next after he attains the age of 70 years unless his appointment as director is extended by an Ordinary 
Resolution of which no shorter notice is given than that required to be given for the holding of a 
meeting of shareholders, till the next annual meeting of the Company. 

23NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



23.5 Shareholding qualification

A Director shall not be required to hold Shares.

23.6 Alternate Directors

23.6.1 Every Director may, by notice given in Writing to the Company but subject to the approval of the 
majority of Directors, appoint any person (including any other Director) to act as an Alternate Director 
in the Director’s place, either generally, or in respect of a specified meeting or meetings at which the 
Director is not present.

23.6.2 The appointing Director may, at his discretion, by notice in Writing to the Company, remove his 
Alternate Director.

23.6.3 An Alternate Director may, while acting in the place of the appointing Director, represent, exercise, 
and discharge all the powers, rights, duties, and privileges (but not including the right of acting as 
Chairperson) of the appointing Director. The Alternate Director shall be subject, in all respects, to the 
same terms and provisions as those regarding the appointment of his appointing Director, except as 
regards remuneration and the power to appoint an Alternate Director under this Constitution.

23.6.4 A Director, who is also an Alternate Director, shall be entitled, in addition to his own vote, to a separate 
vote on behalf of the Director he is representing.

23.6.5 An Alternate Director’s shall lapse upon his appointing Director ceasing to be a Director.

23.6.6 The notice of appointment of an Alternate Director shall include an address for service of notice of 
meetings of the Board. Failure to give an address will not invalidate the appointment but notice of 
meetings of the Board need not be given to the Alternate Director until an address is provided to the 
Company.

23.6.7 An Alternate Director shall not be the agent of his appointor and shall exercise his duties as a Director 
independently of his appointor.

24 Powers and duties of the board
24.1 Powers of the Board

24.1.1 The business and affairs of the Company shall be managed by or under the direction or supervision of 
the Board.

24.1.2 The Board shall have all the powers necessary for managing, and for directing and supervising the 
management of, the business and affairs of the Company except to the extent that this Constitution or 
the Act expressly requires those powers to be exercised by the Shareholders or any other person.

24.1.3 The Directors may raise or borrow or secure the payment of any sum or sums of money for the purposes 
of the Company, save that the Directors shall procure that the aggregate amount borrowed, and for 
the time being remaining outstanding, by the Company and its subsidiaries (exclusive of inter-company 
borrowing and apart from temporary loans obtained from the Company’s bankers) shall not, without 
the approval by Ordinary Resolution of the Shareholders, exceed a reasonable fixed amount or 
percentage of the paid up share capital of the Company for the time being issued and reserves, and the 
directors will procure that the aggregate amount at any time owing in respect of monies borrowed by 
the Company (including creditors) will not without such sanction exceed the said limit, but nevertheless, 
no lender or other person dealing with the Company shall be concerned to see or enquire whether this 
limit is observed. 

24.2 Delegation by Board

24.2.1 The Board may delegate to a committee of Directors, a Director, an employee of the Company, or any 
other person, any one or more of its powers, other than the powers provided for under any of the 
following sections which are listed in the Seventh Schedule to the Act:

(a) section 52 (Issue of other shares);

(b) Section 56 (Consideration for issue of shares);

(c) section 57(3) (Shares not paid for in cash);

(d) section 61 (Board may authorise Distribution);

(e) section 64 (Shares in lieu of Dividend);

(f) section 65 (Shareholder discount);

(g) section 69 (Purchase of own shares);

(h) section 78 (Redemption at option of Company);

(i) section 81 (Restrictions on giving financial assistance);

(j) section 188 (Change of registered office);

(k) section 246 (Approval of Amalgamation proposal);

(l) section 247 (Short form Amalgamation). 

24



24.2.2 The Board shall be responsible for the exercise of a power by any delegate (where that power is 
delegated under this clause 24.2) as if the power had been exercised by the Board, unless the Board:

(a) believed on reasonable grounds at all times before the exercise of the power that the delegate 
would exercise the power in conformity with the duties imposed on the Directors by the Act and 
this Constitution; and

(b) has monitored, by means of reasonable methods properly used, the exercise of the power by the 
delegate. 

24.3 Directors to act in good faith and in best interests of Company

24.3.1 Subject to this clause 24.3, the Directors of the Company shall:

(a) exercise their powers in accordance with the Act and with the limits and subject to the conditions 
and restrictions established by this Constitution;

(b) obtain the authorisation of a General Meeting before doing any act or entering into any 
transaction for which the authorisation or consent of such Meeting is required by the Act or this 
Constitution;

(c) exercise their powers honestly, in good faith, in the best interests of the Company and for the 
respective purposes for which such powers are explicitly or impliedly conferred;

(d) exercise the degree of care, diligence and skill required by the Act;

(e) not agree to the Company incurring any obligation unless the Directors believe at that time, on 
reasonable grounds, that the Company shall be able to perform the obligation when it is required 
to do so;

(f) account to the Company for any monetary gain, or the value of any other gain or advantage, 
obtained by them in connection with the exercise of their powers, or by reason of their position as 
Directors of the Company, except remuneration, pensions provisions and compensation for loss of 
office in respect of their directorships of any company which are dealt with in accordance with the 
Act;

(g) not make use of, or disclose, any confidential information received by them on behalf of the 
Company as Directors otherwise than as permitted and in accordance with the Act;

(h) not compete with the Company or become a Director or officer of a competing company, unless it 
is approved by the Company;

(i) where Directors are interested in a transaction to which the Company is a party, disclose such 
interest;

(j) not use any assets of the Company for any illegal purpose or purpose in breach of sub clauses (a) 
and (c), and not do, or knowingly allow to be done, anything by which the Company’s assets may 
be damaged or lost, otherwise than in the ordinary course of carrying on its business;

(k) transfer forthwith to the Company all cash or assets acquired on its behalf, whether before or 
after its incorporation, or as the result of employing its cash or assets, and until such transfer is 
effected to hold such cash or assets on behalf of the Company and to use it only for the purposes 
of the Company;

(l) attend meetings of the Directors with reasonable regularity, unless prevented from so doing by 
illness or other reasonable excuse;

(m) keep proper accounting records in accordance with the Act and make such records available for 
inspection in accordance with the Act; and

(n) at all times act in a manner which is not, oppressive, unfairly discriminatory, or unfairly prejudicial 
to the Shareholders.

24.3.2 Nothing in this clause 24.3 shall limit the power of a Director to make provision for the benefit of 
employees of the Company (as the terms “employees” and “Company” are defined in section 144 of the 
Act) in connection with the Company ceasing to carry on the whole or part of its business.

24.4 Major Transactions and other transactions under Section 130 of the Act 

24.4.1 The Board shall not procure or permit the Company to enter into a Major Transaction unless the 
transaction is approved by a Special Resolution or contingent on approval by Special Resolution.

24.4.2 The Board shall not procure or permit the Company to enter into a transaction of the kind 
contemplated by section 130(3) of the Act unless the transaction is approved by an Ordinary Resolution 
or contingent on approval by Ordinary Resolution. 

25NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



25 Proceedings of the board
25.1 Chairperson

25.1.1 The Directors shall elect one of their number as Chairperson of the Board and determine the period for 
which he is to hold office, which period, shall not exceed one year. 

25.1.2 Where no Chairperson is elected, or where at a meeting of the Board the Chairperson is not present 
within fifteen (15) minutes after the time appointed for the commencement of the meeting, the 
Directors present shall choose one of their number to be Chairperson of the meeting. 

25.2 Notice of meeting

25.2.1 A Director or, if requested by a Director to do so, an employee of the Company, may convene a meeting 
of the Board by giving notice in accordance with this clause 25.2. 

25.2.2 A notice of a meeting of the Board shall be sent to every Director, and the notice shall include the date, 
time, and place of the meeting and the matters to be discussed. 

25.2.3 An irregularity in the notice of a meeting shall be waived where all Directors entitled to receive notice 
of the meeting attend the meeting without protest as to the irregularity or where all Directors entitled 
to receive notice of the meeting agree to the waiver. 

25.3 Method of holding meetings

A meeting of the Board shall be held either:

(a) by a number of the Directors who constitute a quorum, being assembled together at the place, date, and 
time appointed for the meeting; or 

(b) by means of audio, or audio and visual, communication by which all Directors participating and constituting 
a quorum can simultaneously hear each other throughout the meeting. 

25.4 Quorum

25.4.1 A quorum for a meeting of the Board shall be fixed by the Board, and if not so fixed shall be a majority 
of the directors provided such quorum includes at least one Mauritius resident Director.

25.4.2 No business shall be transacted at a meeting of Directors if a quorum is not present.

25.4.3 A Director having an interest as specified in clause 26 will not be counted in a quorum in accordance 
with clause 25. 

25.4.4 If within fifteen (15) minutes past the time appointed for any meeting of Board, the quorum is not 
present, such meeting shall stand adjourned to the next day at the same time and place provided such 
day is a working day and otherwise to the next following working day; if at such adjourned meeting a 
quorum is not present, the Directors present not being less than two (2) shall form a quorum and may 
transact the business standing to the order of the day.

25.5 Voting

25.5.1 Every Director (other than a Director having an interest pursuant to clause 26) shall have one vote. 

25.5.2 The Chairperson shall not have a casting vote. 

25.5.3 A resolution of the Board shall be passed if it is agreed to by a majority of the Directors present. 

25.6 Minutes

The Board shall ensure that minutes are kept of all proceedings at meetings of the Board.

25.7 Resolution in Writing

25.7.1 A resolution in Writing, signed or assented to, by all the Directors then entitled to receive notice of a 
Board meeting, shall be as valid and effective as if it had been passed at a meeting of the Board duly 
convened and held. 

25.7.2 Any such resolution may consist of several documents in like form each signed or assented to by one or 
more Directors. 

25.7.3 A copy of any such resolution shall be entered in the minute book of Board proceedings. 

26 Remuneration and other interests of directors
26.1 Authority to remunerate Directors

26.1.1 The Shareholders by Ordinary Resolution, shall approve:

(a) the payment of remuneration (or the provision of other benefits) by the Company to a Director 
for his services as a Director, or the payment of compensation for loss of office and shall be paid 
all travelling and other expenses properly and necessarily incurred by them for the purposes of 
the business of the Company namely in attending meetings of Directors or committees thereof; 
and

(b) the making of loans and the giving of guarantees by the Company to a Director in accordance with 
section 159 (6) of the Act.

26



26.1.2 The Board shall ensure that, forthwith after authorising any payment under clause 26.1, particulars of 
such payment are entered in the Interests Register, where there is one.

26.1.3 Notwithstanding the provisions of this clause, the Shareholders of the Company may, by Unanimous 
Resolution or by Unanimous Shareholder’s Agreement, approve any payment, provision, benefit, 
assistance, or other distribution referred to in section 159 of the Act provided that there are reasonable 
grounds to believe that, after the distribution, the Company is likely to satisfy the Solvency Test.

26.2 Other offices with Company held by Director

26.2.1 Any Director may act by himself, or his firm in a professional capacity for the Company; and the Director 
or the Director’s firm will be entitled to remuneration for professional services as if the Director were 
not a Director. Nothing in this clause shall authorise a Director or a Director’s firm to act as auditor for 
the Company.

26.2.2 A Director may hold any other office in the Company (other than the office of auditor), for such period 
and on such terms (as to remuneration and otherwise) as the Board shall determine provided that his 
appointment and remuneration in respect of such other office must be determined by a disinterested 
quorum of directors. 

26.2.3 A director of the Company may be or become a director or other officer of, or otherwise interested in, 
any company promoted by the Company or in which the Company may be interested as a member or 
otherwise, and no such director shall be accountable to the Company for any remuneration or other 
benefits received by him as a director or officer of or from his interest in, such other company unless 
the Company otherwise directs. Provided that if a director shall be or become a director and/or an 
employee of a subsidiary company, the appointment, and the terms thereof and the remuneration 
payable shall be determined by a disinterested quorum of directors.

26.2.4 Other than as provided in clause 26.3 a Director shall not be disqualified by virtue of his office from 
entering into any transaction with the Company. Any such transaction will be valid and enforceable to 
the same extent as if he was not a Director and not in a fiduciary relationship with the Company. No 
such Director shall be liable to account to the Company for any profit realised by the transaction by 
reason of the Director holding that office or of the fiduciary relationship thereby established.

26.3 Notice of interest to be given

26.3.1 A Director shall, forthwith after becoming aware of the fact that he is interested in a transaction or 
proposed transaction with the Company, cause to be entered in the Interests Register, where it has one, 
and, where the Company has more than one Director, disclose to the Board of the Company: 

(a) where the monetary value of the Director’s interest is able to be quantified, the nature and 
monetary value of that interest; or

(b) where the monetary value of the Director’s interest cannot be quantified, the nature and extent 
of that interest.

26.3.2 A Director shall not be required to comply with clause 26.3.1 where the transaction or proposed 
transaction between the Director and the Company is or is to be entered into in the ordinary course of 
the Company’s business on the usual terms and conditions.

26.3.3 For the purposes of clause 26.3.1, a general notice entered in the Interests Register, where there is 
one, or disclosed to the Board to the effect that a Director is a Shareholder, Director, officer or trustee 
of another company or other person and is to be regarded as interested in any transaction which may, 
after the date of the entry or disclosure, be entered into with that Company or person, is a sufficient 
disclosure of interest in relation to that transaction. 

26.3.4 A failure by a Director to comply with clause 26.3.1 shall not affect the validity of a transaction entered 
into by the Company or the Director.

26.4 Interested director may not vote

26.4.1 Subject to clause 25.4.3, a director of a company who is interested in a transaction entered into, or to be 
entered into, by the company, may:

(a) not vote on any matter relating to the transaction, and if he does vote, his vote shall not be 
counted;

(b) attend a meeting of directors at which a matter relating to the transaction arises but shall not be 
included among the directors present at the meeting for the purpose of a quorum;

(c) sign a document relating to the transaction on behalf of the Company; and 

(d) do any other thing in his capacity as a director in relation to the transaction, as if the director were 
not interested in the transaction.

27NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



26.4.2 This clause 26.4 shall not apply to:

(a) a transaction approved by the Company pursuant to section 146 of the Act.

(b) the giving of any security or indemnity either:

(i) to the Director in respect of money lent or obligations incurred or undertaken by him at the 
request of or for the benefit of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; or

(ii) to a third party in respect of a debt or obligation of the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
for which the director has himself assumed responsibility in whole or in part and whether 
alone or jointly under a guarantee or indemnity or by the giving of security;

(iii) any proposal concerning an offer of shares or debentures or other securities of or by the 
Company or any other company which the issuer may promote or be interested in for 
subscription or purchase where the director is or is to be interested as a participant in the 
underwriting or sub-underwriting of the offer;

(iv) any proposal concerning any other company in which the director is interested only, whether 
directly or indirectly, as an officer or executive or shareholder or in which the director is 
beneficially interested in shares of that company, provided that he, together with any of his 
associates, is not beneficially interested in five per cent or more of the issued shares of any 
class of such company (or of any third company through which his interest is derived) or of 
the voting rights;

(aa) any proposal or arrangement concerning the benefit of employees of the Company or 
its subsidiaries including:

(bb) the adoption, modification or operation of any employees’ share scheme or any share 
incentive or share option scheme under which he may benefit; or

(cc) the adoption, modification or operation of a pension fund or retirement, death or 
disability benefits scheme which relates both to directors and employees of the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries and does not provide in respect of any director 
as such any privilege or advantage not generally accorded to the class of persons to 
which such scheme or fund relates; and

(dd) any contract or arrangement in which the director is interested in the same manner 
as other holders of shares or debentures or other securities of the Company by virtue 
only of his interest in shares or debentures or other securities of the Company.

27 Executive directors
27.1 Appointment of Executive Director

27.1.1 The Board may from time to time 

(a) appoint one or more Directors to be the holder of any executive office on such terms and 
conditions and for a maximum period of five years as the Board may (subject to the provisions of 
the Act) determine; and 

(b) without prejudice to the terms and conditions of any contract of service which the Company may 
enter into regarding any such appointment, at any time revoke any such appointment. 

27.1.2 The remuneration (including pension benefits) of the executive directors shall be ratified by the 
Shareholders of the Company in a General Meeting.  

27.2 Powers of Executive Director

27.2.1 The Board may entrust to and confer upon a Director holding any executive office any of the powers 
exercisable by the Board upon such terms and conditions and subject to such restrictions as the Board 
shall determine and either collaterally with, or to the exclusion of, the Board’s own powers, but always 
subject to section 131 of the Act, and may, from time to time, revoke, withdraw, alter or vary all or any 
of the powers so conferred by the Board.

28 Indemnity and insurance
28.1 Indemnity of Directors and employees

28.1.1 The Board shall cause the Company to indemnify a Director or employee of the Company or a related 
company for costs incurred by him in any proceedings:

(a) that relates to liability for any act or omission in his or her capacity as a Director or employee; and
(b) in which judgment is given in his favour or in which he is acquitted, or which is discontinued.

28.1.2 The Board shall cause the Company to indemnify a Director or an employee of the Company or a related 
company in respect of:

(a) liability to any person other than the Company or a related company for any act or omission in his 
capacity as a Director or employee; or

(b) costs incurred by the Director or employee in defending or settling any claim or proceedings 
relating to any liability under clause 28.1.1 above; not being criminal liability or liability for the 
breach of section 131 of the Act.

28



28.2 Insurance of Directors and employees

28.2.1 The Board may cause the Company to effect insurance for Directors and employees of the Company or 
a related company in respect of:

(a) liability not being criminal liability for any act or omission in his capacity as a Director or 
employee; or

(b) costs incurred by such Directors or employees in defending or settling any claim or proceedings 
relating to any such liability; or

(c) costs incurred by a Director or employee in defending any criminal proceedings that have been 
brought against the Director or employee in relation to any act or omission in that person’s 
capacity as Director or employee, in which he is acquitted or in relation to which a nolle prosequi 
is entered.

28.2.2 The Directors who vote in favour of a decision to effect insurance under clause 28.2.1 shall sign a 
certificate stating that, in their opinion, the cost of effecting the insurance is fair to the Company.

28.2.3 The Board shall ensure that particulars of any indemnity given to, or insurance effected for, any Director 
or employee of the Company or related Company are forthwith entered in the Interests Register. 

28.3 Definitions

For the purpose of this clause 28, “Director” includes a former Director and “employee” includes a former 
employee.

29 Secretary
29.1 Company to have a secretary

29.1.1 The Company shall have one or more secretaries (referred to as “The Secretary” in this constitution) to 
be appointed by the Board from time to time.

29.1.2 The Secretary shall also be as of right the secretary of the Board.

29.2 Qualifications

No person shall be appointed as Secretary of the Company unless:

(a) he is a natural person of full age and capacity ordinarily resident in Mauritius;

(b) he holds the necessary qualifications specified under Section 165 of the Act; or

(c) in the case of a firm or corporation, approval has first been obtained from the Registrar for such firm or 
corporation to act as Secretary of the Company or of companies in general, conformably to the provisions 
of Section 164 of the Act.

29.3 Vacancy

29.3.1 The office of Secretary shall not be left vacant for more than three consecutive months at any time.

29.3.2 If the office of Secretary is vacant for more than three consecutive months, anything required or 
authorised to be done by or in relation to a Secretary may be done by any officer of the Company 
authorised generally or specifically for the purpose by the Board.

29.4 Removal from office

The Board may, subject to the provisions of Section 167 of the Act, remove, from time to time, the Secretary 
from office.

30 Winding up
30.1 Distribution of surplus assets

Subject to the terms of issue of any Shares, upon the liquidation of the Company, any assets of the Company 
remaining after payment of the debts and liabilities of the Company and the costs of liquidation shall be 
distributed among the holders of Shares in proportion to their shareholding, provided however that a holder of 
Shares not fully paid up shall receive only a proportionate share of his entitlement being an amount which is in 
proportion to the amount paid to the Company in satisfaction of the liability of the Shareholder to the Company 
in respect of the Shares.

30.2 Division in kind

30.2.1 When assets are distributed, the liquidator may, with the sanction of a Special Resolution, divide in 
kind amongst the Shareholders the assets of the Company, whether they consist of property of the 
same kind or not, and may for that purpose set such value as he shall deem fair upon any property to 
be divided and may determine how the division shall be carried out as between the Shareholders or 
different Classes of Shareholders.

30.2.2 The liquidator may, with the like sanction, vest any such assets in such persons for the benefit of 
contributories as the liquidator, with the like sanction, shall think fit.

30.2.3 Nothing in this clause shall require a Shareholder to accept any share or other security on which there is 
any liability.

29NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



31 Common seal, authentication of deeds and documents
31.1 Form of instruments

31.1.1 The Company may have a seal, known as the common seal, which shall contain the name of the 
Company, and which shall not be affixed to any instrument without the authority of the Board.

31.1.2 The common seal may be affixed to any instrument, including a deed, and if not so affixed, the validity 
of the execution of the instrument will be determined in accordance with section 181 of the Act.

31.1.3 All instruments, deeds, acts and documents executed on behalf of the Company may be in such form 
and contain such powers, provisos, conditions, covenants, clauses, and agreements as the Board shall 
think fit, and shall be signed either by two Directors or by one Director and one of the secretaries or by 
such other person or persons as the Board may from time to time appoint.

31.1.4 All bills of exchange, promissory notes or other negotiable instruments shall be accepted, made, drawn, 
or endorsed for and on behalf of the Company and all cheques or orders for payment shall be signed 
either by two Directors or by one Director and one of the secretaries or by such other person or persons 
as the Board may from time to time appoint.

31.1.5 Cheques or other negotiable instruments paid to the Company’s bankers for collection and requiring 
the endorsement of the Company, shall be endorsed on its behalf by one of the Directors or by one of 
the secretaries or by such other officer as the Board may from time to time appoint.

31.1.6 All moneys belonging to the Company shall be paid to such bankers as the Directors shall from time to 
time appoint and all receipts for money paid to the Company shall be signed by one of the Directors or 
by one of the secretaries or by such other officer as the Board may from time to time appoint and such 
receipt shall be an effectual discharge for the money therein stated to be received.

31.2 Instrument to be binding

Every instrument to which the seal of the Company is so affixed, and which is so signed shall be binding on 
the Company.

32 Actions of proceedings
The Company may sue and be sued in its corporate name acting by and through the Board or The Secretary provided 
that the power to sue shall only be exercised by The Secretary after he has been duly authorised thereto by the Board 
and service of all summonses, process notices and the like shall be valid and effectual if served at the Registered Office 
of the Company.

33 Company records
33.1 The Company shall keep at its registered office the following records:

(a) the Constitution of the Company;

(b) minutes of all meetings and resolutions of shareholders for the last seven (7) years;

(c) an interests register;

(d) minutes of all meetings and resolutions of Directors and Directors’ committees for the last seven (7) years;

(e) certificates given by Directors under the Act for the last seven (7) years;

(f) the full names and addresses of the current Directors;

(g) copies of all written communications to all shareholders or all holders of the same class of shares during 
the last seven (7) years, including annual reports made under section 218 of the Act;

(h) copies of all financial statements and group financial statements required to be completed by section 210 
of the Act for the last seven (7) completed accounting periods of the Company;

(i) the accounting records required by section 193 of the Act for the current accounting period and for the 
last seven (7) completed accounting periods of the Company;

(j) the share register required to be kept under clause 11 of this Constitution; and

(k) the copies of instruments creating or evidencing charges required to be registered under section 127 of 
the Act.

33.2 The Directors shall, at all times and even where the Company is removed from the register, ensure that the 
records referred to above are kept for a period of at least 7 (seven) years from the date of the completion of the 
transaction, act, or operation to which it relates.

30



34 Notices
34.1 Service

34.1.1 A notice may be served by the Company upon any director or shareholder

(a) personally; or 

(b) by posting it by fast post in a prepaid envelope or package addressed to such director or 
shareholder at such person’s last known address; or

(c) by electronic means if the Shareholder or director has consented in writing to that form of 
communication being used by the Company and the Shareholder or director has provided an 
electronic address to which such communication may be sent. 

34.1.2 In compliance with the rules of a relevant Stock Exchange, a notice to all Shareholders may also be sent 
to the secretary or other appointed official or committee of that exchange and shall be published in 
the English language in one or more daily newspapers of wide circulation in the country of the relevant 
Stock Exchange and in accordance with the provisions of rules of that exchange.

Notice shall be given to every Shareholder, whether residing in or outside Mauritius.

34.2 Time of service

Any notice given by personal delivery or by a delivery service will be conclusively deemed to have been given at 
the time of delivery and, if given by telecopier or by electronic mail, on the on the first business day following 
the day of transmittal.

34.3 Proof of service

In proving service, it shall be sufficient to prove that the envelope containing the notice was properly addressed 
and posted with all attached postal charges paid.

34.4 Service on joint holders

A notice may be given by the Company to the joint holders of a share by giving the notice to the joint holder first 
named in the share register in respect of the share.

34.5 Service on representatives

A notice may be given by the Company to the person or persons entitled to a share in consequence of the 
death or bankruptcy of a shareholder by addressing it to such person or persons by name or by title or by any 
appropriate description, at the address, if any, within Mauritius supplied for the purpose by the person or 
persons claiming to be so entitled, or (until such an address has been so supplied) by giving the notice in any 
manner in which the same might have been given if the death or bankruptcy had not occurred.

35 Accounts
35.1 Accounts to be kept

35.1.1 The Board shall cause proper accounting and other records to be kept as required by the Act and shall 
make available such accounting and other records for inspection in accordance with sections 225 to 228 
of the Act. 

35.1.2 A printed copy of the annual report and accounts (including the balance sheet and every document 
required by law to be annexed thereto and profit and loss account or income and expenditure account) 
shall, at least 21 days before the date of the General Meeting, be delivered or sent by post to the 
registered address of every Shareholder or by electronic means. 

35.2 Compliance with Rules of relevant Stock Exchange

35.2.1 The Company shall comply with the rules of the relevant Exchange in sending the required number of 
copies of the annual report and accounts to the secretary or other appointed official or committee of 
the relevant Stock Exchange.

35.2.2 Provided that this Clause shall not require a copy of such documents to be sent to any person of whose 
address the Company is not aware of or to more than one of the joint holders of any shares, stock, or 
debentures.

35.2.3 Where the Company is a holding company as defined in this Constitution or in the Act or in the rules of 
a relevant Stock Exchange, the directors’ report attached to each annual balance sheet issued by the 
Company shall disclose full details of all resolutions passed at General Meetings and Special Meetings 
of the Company’s subsidiary companies since the date of the directors’ report attached to the previous 
annual balance sheet of the Company.

31NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



36 Revocation of power of attorney
Even after the giving and lodging of notice of revocation of power of attorney, the Company shall be entitled to give 
effect to any instrument signed under power of attorney and certified by any officer of the Company as being in order 
before the giving and lodging of such notice.

37 Auditors
Auditors shall be appointed and removed, and their duties and remuneration regulated in accordance with Sections 195 
to 208 of the Act.

38 Service of documents
The service of documents on or by the Company shall be regulated in accordance with sections 323 to 328 of the Act. 

39 Removal from the Mauritius register
The Board may request the Registrar to remove the Company from the Register in the event that:

(a) the Company has ceased to carry on business, has discharged in full its liabilities to all its known creditors, and has 
distributed its surplus assets in accordance with this constitution and the Act; or

(b) the Company has no surplus assets after paying its debts in full or in part, and no creditor has applied to the Court 
under Section 312 of the Act for an order putting the Company into liquidation.

40 Alteration of Constitution
The Company in a General Meeting shall have power to alter this Constitution within the limits and under the conditions 
imposed by law and, where required by the rules of a Relevant Stock Exchange shall seek its prior written approval.

41 Arbitration
Any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Constitution or the breach, termination, or invalidity 
thereof, or relating to the Company, shall be settled by international arbitration under the International Arbitration Act 
2008 (“IAA 2008”). The arbitration shall be conducted by an arbitral tribunal which shall consist of a single arbitrator 
under the LCIA-MIAC Arbitration Rules as established by the London Court of International Arbitration (LCIA) and 
Mauritius International Arbitration Centre Limited (MIAC). The juridical seat of arbitration and the geographical 
location of the arbitration shall be Mauritius and the language to be used in the arbitral proceedings shall be the 
English language. The award given by the arbitrator shall be conclusive, final, and binding on all the parties.

We, hereby certify that this document has been approved by Special Resolution of Shareholders as the constitution of 
FMBcapital Holdings Plc.

_______________________________

For and on behalf of

JTC Fiduciary Services (Mauritius) Limited

Company Secretary of FMBcapital Holdings Plc

32



Audited summary consolidated and separate financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022

* Incorporates effects of hyperinflation 
** Represents first and second interim dividend.

for the year ended 31 December  
USD’000

CONSOLIDATED SEPARATE

AUDITED

2022 2021 2022 2021

Interest and similar income  148 248  126 014  291  251 
Interest expense and similar charges  (38 782)  (28 886)  (2 381)  (2 384)

Net interest income/(expense)  109 466  97 128  (2 090)  (2 133)

Net fees and commissions  36 510  44 862  –    –   
Income from investments (including investment properties)  4 337  3 892  16 366  8 152 
Gain on foreign exchange transactions  39 043  25 893  292  685 
Other operating income  2 197  1 608  7 737  2 760 

Total non-interest income  82 087  76 255  24 395  11 597 

Total operating income  191 553  173 383  22 305  9 464 

Staff and training costs  (47 750)  (44 428)  (4 399)  (1 543)
Premises and equipment costs  (14 293)  (14 704)  (1 904)  (1 345)
Depreciation and amortisation  (8 668)  (8 242)  (946)  (720)
Administration and general expenses  (25 584)  (29 524)  (1 406)  (851)
Total non-interest expenses  (96 295)  (96 898)  (8 655)  (4 459)

Impairment loss on financial assets  (4 202)  (7 058)  –    –   

Operating	profit  91 056  69 427  13 650  5 005 

Net monetary loss  (7 662)  (5 129)  –    –   
Loss on owner occupied property  –    (3 365)  –    –   
Impairment loss on investment in joint venture  (719)  (16 505)  –    –   
Fair value gain on investment property  –    448  –    –   
Share of profit in joint venture  4 424  14 222  –    –   
Profit	before	income	tax	expense  87 099  59 098  13 650  5 005 
Income tax expense  (25 904)  (18 652)  (1 692)  (806)
Profit	for	the	year  61 195  40 446  11 958  4 199 

Other comprehensive income
Items	that	will	not	be	classified	to	profit	or	loss
Revaluation surplus on property  3 351  –    –    –   
Deferred tax on revalued property  592  –    –    –   
Fair value gain on FVOCI financial assets  205  4 041  –    –   
Deferred tax on FVOCI financial assets  (58)  –    –    –   

 4 090  4 041  –    –   
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations*  (35 663)  7 679  –    –   

Total other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year  (31 573)  11 720  –    –   

Total comprehensive for the year  29 622  52 166  11 958  4 199 

Profit or loss attributable to:
Owners of the parent  40 089  27 206  11 958  4 199 
Non-controlling interests  21 106  13 240  –    –   
Profit	for	the	year  61 195  40 446  11 958  4 199 

Total comprehensive attributable to:
Owners of the parent  17 589  32 831   11 958  4 199 
Non-controlling interests  12 033  19 335   –    –   
Total comprehensive income for the year  29 622  52 166  11 958  4 199 

Basic earnings per share (US cents)  1.631 1.107
Diluted earnings per share (US cents) 1.525 1.042

Summary statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

PROFIT  
AFTER TAX 

51% 

CUSTOMER  
DEPOSITS 

17% 

TOTAL OPERATING 
INCOME 

10% 

CUSTOMER 
ADVANCES

18% 

CREDIT  
LOSS RATIO

0.77%

RETURN ON  
AVERAGE EQUITY

32%

COST TO 
INCOME RATIO

50%

DIVIDEND PER SHARE  
(US CENTS)**

0.49

33NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



Summary statements of financial position
as at 31 December 
USD’000

CONSOLIDATED SEPARATE

AUDITED

2022 2021 2022 2021

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents  384 137  308 714  2 897  9 100 
Money market investments  212 189  280 272  –    –   
Loans and advances to customers  651 726  552 811  –    –   
Repurchase agreements  13 919  94 159  –    –   
Current tax asset  2 375  857  –    –   
Assets held for sale  133  343  –    –   
Investments at fair value through profit or loss  4 611  6 615  –    –   
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income  5 906  5 302  –    –   
Investments in subsidiary companies  –    –    141 386  141 386 
Investment in joint venture  15 580  11 875  –    –   
Other assets  27 061  34 370  5 441  1 436 
Investment property  4 800  4 700  –    –   
Intangible assets  8 251  9 817  3 923  2 314 
Right-of-use assets  6 593  5 824  42  118 
Property and equipment  54 021  55 798  786  617 
Deferred tax assets  2 262  3 899  –    –   
Total assets  1 393 564  1 375 356  154 475  154 971 
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities
Balances due to other banks  47 647  209 386  –    –   
Customer deposits  1 039 070  887 233  –    –   
Other payables  46 716  32 777  1 126  1 726 
Current tax liabilities  3 748  2 564  –    –   
Lease liabilities  6 572  6 341  63  138 
Deferred tax liabilities  7 442  5 226  –    –   
Provisions  5 574  6 503  –    –   
Loans payable  16 679  17 165  16 679  22 312 
Subordinated debt  12 447  16 012  –    –   
Convertible preference shares  10 787  10 787  10 787  10 787 
Total liabilities  1 196 682  1 193 994  28 655  34 963 
Equity
Share capital  117 409  117 409  117 409  117 409 
Restructuring reserve  (54 511)  (54 511)  –    –   
Property revaluation reserve  10 189  6 342  –    –   
Loan loss reserve  3 097  2 280  –    –   
Other reserves  4 181  4 010  –    –   
Foreign currency translation reserve  (50 594)  (24 170)  –    –   
Retained earnings  98 146  65 337  8 411  2 599 
Total	equity	attributable	to	equity	holders	of the company  127 917  116 697  125 820  120 008 
Non-controlling interests  68 965  64 665  –    –   
Total equity  196 882  181 362  125 820  120 008 
Total equity and liabilities  1 393 564  1 375 356  154 475  154 971 

Summary statements of cash flows 
for the year ended 31 December 
USD’000

CONSOLIDATED SEPARATE

AUDITED

2022 2021 2022 2021

Net cash generated from operating activities  211 315  52 095  10 977  4 933 
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities  93 116  (143 905)  (2 658)  (1 100)
Cash flows from financing activities  (191 198)  122 472  (14 522)  1 050 

Net Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  113 233  30 662  (6 203)  4 883 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  308 755  307 795  9 100  4 217 
Effect of changes in exchange rates and hyperinflation  (37 837)  (29 702)  –    –   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period*  384 151  308 755  2 897  9 100 

* Consolidated cash and cash equivalents at 31 December are gross amounts excluding expected credit losses of US$ 14 730 and US$ 40 979 for 2022 and 2021 respectively.

Summary statements of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 December 
USD’000

CONSOLIDATED SEPARATE

AUDITED

2022 2021 2022 2021

Opening equity  181 362  136 141  120 008  119 742 
Profit for the year  61 195  40 446  11 958  4 199 
Total other comprehensive (loss)/income  (31 573)  11 720  –    –   
Dividends declared and paid  (13 676)  (3 933)  (6 146)  (3 933)
Movements in other reserves  (426)  (3 012)  –    –   
Closing equity  196 882  181 362  125 820  120 008 

34



Investment in subsidiary companies
At the end of the reporting period, the Company’s portfolio of investments in subsidiary  companies was unchanged from 
the previous reporting period and comprised:

Name of entity
Nature of
Business

Type of  
Investment

Holding % USD’000

2022

First Capital Bank Plc (Malawi) Banking Equity Shares 100  88 034 
Afcarme Zimbabwe Holdings (Private) Limited Banking Equity Shares 100  17 670 
First Capital Bank (Zambia) Limited Banking Equity Shares 49  4 634 
First Capital Shared Services Limited Shared Services Equity Shares 100  4 160 
First Capital Bank Limited (Botswana) Banking Equity Shares 38.6  3 047 
First Capital Bank Limited (Botswana) Banking Preference Shares 100  2 475 
First Capital Bank S.A. (Mozambique) Banking Equity Shares 80  21 366 
Total investment in subsidiary companies  141 386 

Exchange rate trends
2022 2021

Entity Currency
Closing 

rate
Average 

rate
Closing 

rate
Average 

rate

Botswana BWP 12.76 12.32 11.75 11.07
Malawi MWK 1 026.09 937.46 814.24 802.81
Mauritius MUR 43.65 43.91 43.74 41.64
Mozambique MZN 63.87 63.84 63.83 65.89
Zambia ZMW 18.11 16.89 16.66 19.99
Zimbabwe ZWL 687.28 687.28 108.67 108.67

Debt and other liabilities
Balances due to other banks AUDITED

USD’000 2022 2021

Balances due to other banks 15 842  106 309 
Currency swap liabilities  18 153  90 078 
Bank of Zambia - TMTRF 7 484 –
European Investment Bank (EIB)  –  633 
FMO Line of Credit  6 168  12 366 

47 647 209 386

Maturing as follows
Due within 1 year  43 635  195 578 
Due between 2 and 5 years  4 012  13 808 

 47 647  209 386 

In 2020, FCB Zambia secured a targeted medium-term refinancing facility, Bank of Zambia – Targeted Medium Term 
Refinancing Facility, for on-lending to customers. Interest is payable linked to the Zambia Monetary policy rate which was 
8% per annum. The loan is repayable in quarterly instalments with interest. The loan was disbursed in three tranches whose 
maturity dates are 1 September 2023, 4 February 2024 and 8 February 2025.

Subordinated debt 

USD’000 2022 2021

Notes issued by FCB Botswana  12 447  16 012 

The subordinated debt notes constitute direct, subordinated and unsecured obligations and the terms are unchanged from 
31 December 2021. In 2022, First Capital Bank Botswana (FCB Botswana) issued BWP 15 million (US$ 1.2 million). These are 
floating rate notes maturing on 1 July 2027, which earned interest at a cumulative rate of 7.96% following introduction of 
the Monetary Policy rate (MOPR) by the Bank of Botswana (BOB) in April 2022.

Loans payable 

USD’000 2022 2021
Related parties  6 500  6 500 
Other lenders  10 179  10 665 

 16 679  17 165 

Related party loans are unsecured and are due to mature during second half of in 2023. These loans bear interest rate of 
9% payable annually.
 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

35NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
OF FMBCAPITAL HOLDINGS PLC
Report of the independent auditor on the summary consolidated  
and separate financial statements

Opinion
The summary consolidated and separate financial statements, 
which comprise the summary consolidated and separate 
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2022, 
the summary consolidated and separate statements of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the summary 
consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity 
and the summary consolidated and separate statements of 
cash flows for the year then ended, are derived from the 
audited financial statements of FMBcapital Holdings Plc  
(the “Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

In our opinion, the accompanying summary consolidated  
and separate financial statements are consistent in all 
material respects, with the audited consolidated and 
separate financial statements of the Company prepared  
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and in compliance with the requirements  
of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001, in so far as applicable 
to Global Business Licence companies.

Summary Consolidated and Separate  
Financial Statements
The summary consolidated and separate financial statements 
do not contain all the disclosures required by International 
Financial Reporting Standards. Reading the summary 
consolidated and separate financial statements and the 
auditor’s report thereon, therefore, is not a substitute for 
reading the audited consolidated and separate financial 
statements and the auditor’s report thereon. The summary 
consolidated and separate financial statements and the 
audited consolidated and separate financial statements do 
not reflect the effects of events that occurred subsequent 
to the date of our report on the audited consolidated and 
separate financial statements.

The Audited Consolidated and Separate  
Financial Statements and Our Report Thereon
We expressed an unmodified audit opinion on the audited 
consolidated and separate financial statements in our report 
dated 17 May 2023. That report also includes the communication 
of key audit matters that, in our professional judgement, 
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements of the current year.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Summary 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
summary consolidated and separate financial statements 
on the basis described in the Basis of preparation note. 

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on whether the 
summary consolidated and separate financial statements 
are consistent, in all material respects, with the audited 
consolidated and separate financial statements based on 
our procedures, which were conducted in accordance with 
International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 810 (Revised), 
Engagements to Report on Summary Financial Statements.

Use of this report
This report, including our opinion, has been prepared for and 
only for the Company’s Board of Directors in accordance with 
Section 37 of the Financial Services Act, 2010 of Malawi and 
the Malawi Stock Exchange Listing Requirements and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Company and the Company’s Board of Directors, for our audit 
work for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.  

Deloitte  
Chartered Accountants (Mauritius)

23 May 2023

Basis of preparation
The summary consolidated and separate financial statements are prepared in order to meet the requirements of the 
Financial Services Act, 2010 of Malawi for summarised financial statements and to comply with the Malawi Stock Exchange 
Listing Requirements which require the publication of audited results by a listed entity. The summarised financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with the framework concepts and the measurement and recognition requirements of 
International FinancialReporting Standards (“IFRS”).The summary consolidated and separate financial statements, without 
reference to the detailed notes, are derived from the audited consolidated and separate financial statements of FMBcapital 
Holdings Plc (the “Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2022. These audited consolidated and separate financial 
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance 
with the requirements of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 in so far as applicable to Global Business Licence companies, 
are available at the Company’s registered office at JTC Fiduciary Services (Mauritius) Limited, Unit 5ABC, 5th Floor, Standard 
Chartered Tower, 19 Cybercity, Ebѐne, Mauritius.

36



Performance in 2022
FMBCH Plc and its subsidiaries (“the Group“) posted strong performance for the year ended 31 December 2022, with 
growth in operating income, income accretive assets and profits across its footprint. Customer numbers grew by 26% to 
over 555 000, demonstrating the Group’s commitment to providing quality services that meet clients’ needs. 

Notable performance outcomes of 2022 against the preceding year included: 

 •  Net interest income for the year grew by 13% and total non-interest income by 8%, resulting in total operating income 
of US$ 191.6 million – a growth of 10% year on year. 

 •  Profit after tax of US$ 61.2 million was achieved - up 51% from 2021. 

 •  Loans and advances to customers are up 18% at year-end, closing at US$ 651.7 million. 

 •  Credit loss ratio on customer advances (net impairment expense as a proportion of average advances) was 0.77% 
(2021: 1.43%). 

 •  Further, the Group’s non-performing loans remain one of the lowest in the regional banking industry, at only 2.8% 
(2021: 2.9%) of the US$ 664.6 million gross advances portfolio (2021: US$ 565.3 million). 

 • Customer deposits were up 17% rising to more than US$ 1.04 billion. 

Profit after tax by country
AUDITED

USD Million 2022 2021
Year on year 

growth

Botswana 13.66 9.49 44%

Malawi  19.34  18.33 6%

Mauritius  (4.24)  (3.47) (22%)

Mozambique  11.05  1.46 657%

Zambia 10.01 4.81 108

Zimbabwe 11.37 9.72 16
Total  61.19  40.44 51%

REVIEW OF THE YEAR

The Group’s basic earnings per share were 1.631 US cents 
(2021: 1.107 US cents), delivering a return on equity of 
32% (2021: 25%).

The FMBCH Group remains intent on growing into a 
significant regional banking brand, with a diversified 
portfolio of corporate, business and consumer services 
complemented by a strong focus on treasury and trade 
activities. The Group is selectively rolling out consumer 
lending and other retail services across its footprint.  
A rigorous underpinning of enterprise risk governance 
at country and Group level is a mainstay of its oversight 
process, such that capital, liquidity, and other resource 
allocations are made based on risk assessment, 
opportunity sizing, and sound data.

37NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



The global economic environment  
As the world moved into the post-pandemic new order, the 
Russian-Ukraine conflict brought with it supply constraints 
on wheat, fertiliser, fuel and gas. This exacerbated inflation, 
thereby driving up monetary policy interest rates. In addition, 
the US dollar strengthened against most currencies, including 
those of the FMBCH Group. 

Throughout these influences, the FMBCH Group continues 
to be well governed with a strong focus on maintaining 
a healthy financial position that enables long-term, 
sustainable performance and growth.

Macroeconomic outlook 
Global economic growth is expected to slow sharply 
in 2023, reflecting the prolonged effects of the war in 
Ukraine, and other geopolitical pressures, together with 
high inflation and rising interest rates.

Prices are also expected to remain high, even after 
inflation subsides, fueling the risk of social unrest.

The Group remains cautiously optimistic that, despite 
these challenges, growth forecasts in the Southern African 
Development Community (SADC) remain relatively positive, 
and it is expected that private sector, foreign direct 
investment (FDI) and local investment may pick up despite 
foreign exchange limitations and national debt pressures 
in certain Group markets. The Board and management 
believe that there is potential to increase the Group’s 
market share across all components through excellent 
customer service, innovative solutions and leveraging 
regional trade flows in the region, all while ensuring strong 
governance and simplicity of delivery. The Group continues 
to carefully monitor developments and market signals, 
particularly relating to inflation, trade, monetary policy  
and overall economic stability. 

Dividend
The Directors have approved a second interim dividend 
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 of 
USD 8 312 625 (0.34 US cents per ordinary share) 
payable on or about 12 June 2023. The financial 
statements for year ended 31 December 2022 do not 
reflect this dividend.

Such dividend will be accounted for in equity as an 
appropriation of accumulated profits in the year ended 
31 December 2023. In addition to the first interim 
dividend of 0.15 US cents per ordinary share (paid in 
the third quarter of 2022), the second interim dividend 
would bring the 2022 annual dividend to 0.49 US cents 
per share (2021: 0.18 US cents per share). This translates 
to an almost threefold growth in annual dividends. 

The Group’s intent is to maintain a regular dividend 
policy going forward, subject to the Group’s growth 
aspirations.

By order of the board

Terence Davidson 
Chairman

Mr. Busisa Moyo 
Director

17 May 2023

38



Proxy Form

Registered	office:
C/O JTC Fiduciary Services (Mauritius) Limited

Unit 5ABC, Standard Chartered Tower, 19 Cybercity Ebène, Mauritius

(the ”Company”)

I/We ________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

of __________________________________________________________________________________________________________ (address)

being a member/members of the above named company, hereby appoint

___________________________________________________    of _____________________________________________ or failing him/her

____________________________________________________  of _____________________________________________ as my/our proxy, 

to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the 7th Annual Meeting of the Company to be held on Monday,  
19 June 2023 at 16h00 (CAT) and at any adjournment thereof.

In 
Favour

Against Abstain

Resolution No. 1 – Noting and approval of Minutes of the 6th Annual Meeting

Resolution No. 2 – Adoption of the 2022 Directors’ and Auditors’ Report and Annual Financial 
Statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022

Resolution No. 3 – To declare a nil final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 
following two interim dividend declarations of US$3 687 375 and US$8 312 625 respectively 
bringing the total interim dividend declarations in respect of profits for the year ended 
31 December 2022 to US$12 000 000

Resolution No. 4.1 – To re-appoint Mr. Terence Davidson as Director who retires by age to hold 
office until the next Annual General Meeting

Resolution No. 4.2 – To re-elect Mr. Kamal Taposeea who retires by rotation but being eligible, 
offers himself for re-election

Resolution No. 4.3 – To re-elect Mr. Gavin Chapman who retires by rotation but being eligible, 
offers himself for re-election

Resolution No. 4.4 – To re-elect Mrs. Priscilla Balgobin-Bhoyhrul who retires by rotation but 
being eligible, offers herself for re-election

Resolution No. 4.5 – To authorise Directors to determine the remuneration of the executive 
directors 

Resolution No. 4.6 – To approve the fees and retainer of the Chairman and fees of 
non-executive directors as follows:

Resolution No. 4.6.1 – Annual fees for the Chairman – US$20 000

Resolution No. 4.6.2 – Annual retainer for the Chairman – US$40 000

Resolution No. 4.6.3 – Annual fees for other non-executive directors – US$18 000

Resolution No. 5.1 – To approve audit fees to be paid to Deloitte for the year ended 
31 December 2022 amounting to US$105 862.50 inclusive of tax.

Resolution No. 5.2 – To appoint Ernst and Young as Auditors for the year ending 
31 December 2023.

Special Resolution No. 6 – To pass a special resolution to alter the Constitution in the 
following manner:

6.1   the terms “FMB Capital Holdings Plc” and “FMB Capital Holdings Ltd” be replaced by 
“FMBcapital Holdings Plc” throughout the Constitution.

6.2   a new definition be inserted in clause 1.1 of the Constitution as follows: “Resident 
Directors has the meaning given to it under clause 23.1.2.”

6.3   the existing clause 3 of the Constitution be deleted and replaced by the following: 
“The registered office of the Company will be situated at C/o JTC Fiduciary Services 
(Mauritius) Limited, Unit 5ABC, Standard Chartered Tower, 19 Cybercity, Ebène, 
Mauritius or in such other place as the Board may from time to time determine.”

39NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023



In 
Favour

Against Abstain

6.4   a new paragraph be inserted after clause 18.2.3 of the Constitution to read as follows: 
“Where the Board declares a dividend, it shall ensure that the dividend is paid not later 
than 6 weeks after the last date to register. ”

6.5   a new paragraph be inserted after clause 22.5.4 of the Constitution, as follows: “The 
notice shall be accompanied by a detailed agenda together with any other document 
relevant to the meeting.”

6.6   the existing clause 23.1.1 of the Constitution be deleted and replaced by the following: 
“The Board shall consist of not less than six (6) and not more than 12 (twelve) Directors 
of which 2 (two) shall be resident in Mauritius.”

6.7   the existing clause 23.1.2 of the Constitution be deleted and replaced by the following: 
“Save for the 2 (two) Directors resident in Mauritius (the “Resident Directors”), each 
holder of twelve and a half percent (12.5%) of the share capital of the Company can 
appoint 1 (one) Director by giving written notice to the Company to that effect. The 
appointment shall take effect on the date on which the notice is received by the 
Company or, if a later date is given in the notice, on that date, subject at all times to 
the consent form being signed by the proposed Director. The 2 Resident Directors shall 
be appointed by Ordinary Resolution.”

6.8   a new paragraph (n) be added in clause 24.3.1 of the Constitution as follows: “…at 
all times act in a manner which is not, oppressive, unfairly discriminatory, or unfairly 
prejudicial to the Shareholders.”

6.9   a new paragraph be inserted in clause 33 of the Constitution as follows: “The Directors 
shall, at all times and even where the Company is removed from the register, ensure 
that the records referred to above are kept for a period of at least 7 (seven) years from 
the date of the completion of the transaction, act or operation to which it relates.”

Special Resolution No. 7 – To pass a special resolution authorising the directors to issue, for 
cash and in accordance with Rules 5.84 to 5.92 of the Listings Requirements of the MSE, new 
ordinary shares of the Company up to a maximum of 368 737 500 shares, equivalent to 15% 
of the total issued ordinary shares at the beginning of the 2021 financial year, such authority 
being valid until the date of the next annual meeting of the Company provided that the 
authority will not extend beyond 15 months from the date of this special resolution. 

Special Resolution No. 8 – To transact such other business as may be transacted at an Annual 
Meeting of members of which prior notice should have been given to the Company Secretary 
not less than 14 days before the date of the Annual Meeting.

Unless otherwise instructed, the proxy will vote as he/she thinks fit.

Date _________________________________________________             Signed __________________________________________________ 

A PROXY NEED NOT BE A MEMBER OF THE COMPANY 

The proxy form should be returned to the Company’s Transfer Secretary, National Bank of Malawi plc, at least forty-eight (48) 
hours before the time scheduled for the Annual Meeting, via any of the below means:

By email: ekhulamba@natbankmw.com 

In person: 7 Henderson Street, P.O. Box 945, Blantyre

40



Key corporate information

Registered	office
C/O JTC Fiduciary Services (Mauritius) Limited
Unit 5ABC, 5th Floor
Standard Chartered Tower
19 Cybercity
Ebène, 72201
Mauritius
 

Secretary/administrator
JTC Fiduciary Services (Mauritius) Limited
Unit 5ABC, 5th Floor
Standard Chartered Tower
19 Cybercity
Ebène, 72201
Mauritius

Auditor
Deloitte
7th Floor  
Standard Chartered Tower  
19 – 21 Bank Street, Cybercity  
Ebène, 72201 
Mauritius

Bankers
The Mauritius Commercial Bank Limited
P.O. Box 52 
Sir William Newton Street 
Port Louis 
Mauritius 

SBM Bank (Mauritius) Ltd
Corporate Office, SBM Tower  
1 Queen Elizabeth II Avenue 
Port Louis 
Mauritius

41NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 19 JUNE 2023

www.fmbcapitalgroup.com



Belief comes first


